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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
     Management believes that the following commentary and tables 
appropriately discuss and analyze the comparative results of operations and 
the financial condition of the Corporation for the periods covered. 
 
     The Corporation is organized into three global business segments, each of 
which is headed by a group president who reports to the chief executive 
officer.  Each of these three group presidents is responsible for development 
of global strategies to grow the Corporation's worldwide tissue, personal 
care, and health care and other businesses.  They are responsible for 
developing and managing global plans for branding and product positioning, 
cost reductions, technology and research and development programs, and 
capacity and capital investment for their respective businesses.  Each 
business segment is managed separately in view of the substantially different 
product lines each manufactures and markets. 
 
     The Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
("SFAS") 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information, in the fourth quarter of 1998.  This discussion and analysis has 
been prepared on the basis of these global business segments.  Prior year 
information has been reclassified to the current year basis of presentation. 
The major products manufactured and marketed by each of the Corporation's 
business segments are as follows: 
 
- -     Tissue - facial and bathroom tissue, and paper towels and wipers for 
household and away-from-home use; wet wipes; printing, premium business and 
correspondence papers; and related products. 
 
- -     Personal Care - disposable diapers, training and youth pants; feminine 
and incontinence care products; and related products. 
 
- -     Health Care and Other - health care products such as surgical packs and 
gowns, sterilization wraps and disposable face masks; specialty and technical 
papers and related products; and other products. 
 
 
BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND OTHER PROGRAMS 
 
     A number of actions have been taken in recent years to address the 
Corporation's ongoing business competitiveness by improving its operating 
efficiency and cost structure. 
 
Facility Consolidations 
 
     In the fourth quarter of 1998, the Corporation recorded a charge for 
facility consolidations of $123.2 million to, among other things, further 
align tissue manufacturing capacity with demand in Europe, to close a diaper 
manufacturing facility in Canada, shut down and dispose of a tissue 
machine in Thailand and write down certain excess feminine 
care production equipment in North America.  Included in the charge was 
$79.6 million for the write-down of tissue manufacturing assets in 
Europe and the 1999 closure of a diaper facility in Canada.  Because 
the diaper facility will be closed rather than sold, the entire book value of 
the facility was written off.  Employee severance costs of $12.3 million also 
were recorded for approximately 450 employees who were notified by December 
31, 1998 of the Corporation's plans to terminate their employment.   Asset 
write-downs to estimated fair value and inventory losses associated with the 
facility closing and capacity alignment and the tissue machine shut-down 
totaling $31.3 million also were recorded.  These costs, which were charged to 
cost of products sold, reduced 1998 operating profit $123.2 million, and net 
income $86.1 million, or $.16 per share.  Approximately 57 percent of the 
pretax charge relates to the Tissue segment and 43 percent relates to the 
Personal Care segment.  The employee severance costs and other cash costs of 
closures and consolidations of $11.8 million are included in other accrued 
liabilities at December 31, 1998.  Management estimates that annual pretax 
savings from the facility consolidations will increase to approximately $50 
million annually in the year 2001 and that these reduced costs will be 
comprised of approximately 48 percent for salaries, wages and employee 
benefits, 9 percent for depreciation expense and 43 percent for other cash 
costs related to operations. 
 
Write-down of Certain Intangible and Other Assets 
 
During the third quarter of 1998, the Corporation completed a periodic review 
of its intangible assets, such as trademarks and goodwill, to determine if 
they were impaired.  Impairment is deemed to exist whenever the undiscounted 
estimated future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of such 
intangible assets.  Impairment losses are measured by the difference between 
the asset carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows.  As a result of the review, the carrying amounts of trademarks and 
unamortized goodwill of certain European businesses were determined to be 
impaired and were written down.  These write-downs, which were charged to 
general expense, reduced 1998 operating profit $70.2 million and net income 
$57.1 million, or $.10 per share. 
 
During the third quarter of 1998, the Corporation completed a technology 
review of personal computers ("PCs") which demonstrated that (i) PCs have 
reduced economic lives as a consequence of rapid technological improvements, 
(ii) more sophisticated software applications require more powerful PCs, and 
(iii) most of the Corporation's PCs acquired prior to 1997 were 
technologically obsolete.  Consequently, the Corporation concluded that its 
previous practice of capitalizing the costs of PCs and depreciating them over 



five years was no longer appropriate.  Accordingly, the Corporation began 
depreciating the cost of all new PCs acquired after September 30, 1998 over 
two years.  In addition, in recognition of the change in estimated useful 
lives of its existing PC assets, the remaining book value of all PCs acquired 
prior to 1997 was written down.  This change in estimate, along with $8.8 
million of charges for write-downs of other assets and a loss on a pulp 
contract, reduced 1998 operating profit $25.4 million and net income $16.5 
million, or $.03 per share.  Of the $25.4 million, $11.3 million was charged 
to cost of products sold and $14.1 million was charged to general expense. 
 
     Approximately 15 percent of the write-down of certain intangible and 
other assets described above relates to the Tissue segment, 84 percent relates 
to the Personal Care segment and 1 percent relates to the Health Care and 
Other segment. 
 
Announced Plan 
 
     In the fourth quarter of 1997, the Corporation announced a plan to 
restructure its worldwide operations ("Announced Plan"), the total pretax cost 
of which was estimated at $810.0 million.  In conjunction with the Announced 
Plan, the Corporation recorded a pretax charge of $701.2 million in 1997 
("1997 Charge") and recorded the remaining $108.8 million in 1998 ("1998 
Charge") at the time these costs became accruable under appropriate accounting 
principles. 
 
 



 
     The Announced Plan is expected to reduce the Corporation's operating 
costs by approximately $220 million annually in the year 2000.  In order to 
achieve these anticipated benefits, the Announced Plan required: 
 
- -     The sale, closure or downsizing of 18 manufacturing facilities 
worldwide.  These actions will result in the consolidation of the 
Corporation's manufacturing operations into fewer, larger and more efficient 
facilities.  They will eliminate excess production capacity, including more 
than 200,000 metric tons of high-cost tissue manufacturing capacity in North 
America and Europe. 
 
- -     A workforce reduction of approximately 5,000 employees. 
 
- -     The write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets not 
needed in the restructured manufacturing operations; the elimination of excess 
manufacturing capacity; and the write-down of certain inventories in 
restructured operations and other assets. 
 
- -     The elimination of the Corporation's facilities and capacity which 
became excessive as a result of the combination of the Corporation's health 
care operations with those of Tecnol Medical Products, Inc. ("Tecnol"). 
 
- -     The write-down of certain assets that became obsolete in 1997 due to 
enacted U.S. environmental air and water emission rules that require reduced 
emission levels of certain chemical compounds from the Corporation's pulp 
production operations. 
 
- -     Contract terminations, cash costs for mill closures and other 
obligations. 
 
     The following summarizes the major actions relating to facility disposals 
and workforce reductions that were accomplished through December 31, 1998. 
 
- -     Of the 18 manufacturing facilities, 12 have been either sold, closed or 
downsized through December 31, 1998.  Five facilities will be disposed of by 
the third quarter of 1999, the largest of which is a tissue manufacturing 
facility in Gennep, Netherlands, which will be closed by the end of the second 
quarter of 1999.  Plans to close a tissue manufacturing facility in North 
America were canceled as discussed in the "Adjustments and Reclassifications" 
section below. 
 
     In addition to the original 18 facilities, other manufacturing facilities 
were identified for closure or consolidation with other operations under the 
program set forth in the Announced Plan.  Two facilities in Nogales, Mexico 
were consolidated with other operations in 1998; a facility in China will be 
closed in the second quarter of 1999; and a yet to be announced tissue 
manufacturing facility will be closed in 2000.  This latter closure will 
increase the elimination of high-cost production capacity to 230,000 annual 
metric tons. 
 
- -     A total workforce reduction of 5,000 employees was projected under the 
Announced Plan.  Through December 31, 1998, a total workforce reduction of 
3,700 has been realized.  Approximately 1,100 additional employees will be 
terminated in 1999.  The actual cost of the workforce reduction approximates 
the cost that was estimated in the Announced Plan. 
 
 



 
     The major categories of the 1998 and 1997 Charges and their subsequent 
utilization are summarized below: 
 
 
 
 
                                   Amounts Charged                 Amounts    Amounts to 
                                     to Earnings                  Utilized   be Utilized 
                                 ----------------   Reallocations  Through     Beyond 
(Millions of dollars)              in 1998  in 1997   in 1998      1998         1998 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                               
Costs of workforce reduction . . .  $ 64.4  $ 57.3  $ (2.5)        $(119.2)   $    - 
 
Losses on facility disposals . . .       -   165.0     9.3          (162.5)     11.8 
 
Write-downs of property, plant and 
  equipment and other assets . . .    13.5   333.4   (17.6)         (214.9)    114.4 
 
Asset impairments. . . . . . . . .     4.5    82.6   (15.3)          (71.8)        - 
 
Contract terminations, cash 
  costs for mill closures and 
  other obligations. . . . . . . .    26.4    62.9    26.1           (64.5)     50.9 
                                    ------  ------  -------        --------   ------ 
 
                                    $108.8  $701.2  $    -         $(632.9)   $177.1 
                                    ======  ======  =======        ========   ====== 
 
 
 
 
1998 Charge 
 
     The 1998 Charge reduced operating profit, net income and net income per 
share by $108.8 million, $86.9 million and $.16, respectively.  Of the 1998 
Charge, $7.3 million relates to the write-down of certain assets and 
inventories and has been charged to cost of products sold, and $101.5 million 
has been recorded as restructuring and other unusual charges in the 
Consolidated Income Statement.  Approximately 76 percent of the 1998 Charge 
relates to the Tissue segment, 22 percent relates to the Personal Care segment 
and 2 percent relates to the Health Care and Other segment.  Approximately 
25 percent of the 1998 Charge relates to North American operations and 72 
percent relates to European operations. 
 
     The principal costs included in the 1998 Charge are as follows: 
 
- -     The costs of workforce reduction are primarily composed of severance 
payments and other employee-related costs for 1,800 employees at facilities 
which have been or are to be sold or closed and other operations that are being 
downsized.  The employees involved were notified by December 31, 1998 of the 
Corporation's plans to terminate their employment, along with their 
termination arrangements. 
 
- -     Write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets represents 
the net book value of older, less efficient machinery and equipment not needed 
in the restructured manufacturing operations and the elimination of excess 
manufacturing capacity. 
 
- -     Contract terminations, cash costs for mill closures and other 
obligations primarily represent the costs of certain lease obligations. 
 
 



 
1997 Charge 
 
     The 1997 Charge reduced operating profit, net income and net income per 
share by $701.2 million, $503.1 million and $.91, respectively.  Of the 1997 
Charge, $220.1 million related to the write-down of certain assets and 
inventories and was charged to cost of products sold, and $481.1 million was 
recorded as restructuring and other unusual charges in the Consolidated Income 
Statement.  Approximately 71 percent of the 1997 Charge related to the Tissue 
segment, 24 percent related to the Personal Care segment and 3 percent related 
to the Health Care and Other segment.  Approximately 59 percent of the 1997 
Charge related to North American operations and 27 percent related to 
European operations. 
 
     The principal costs included in the 1997 Charge were as follows: 
 
- -     The costs of workforce reduction were primarily composed of severance 
payments and other employee-related costs for 1,900 employees at facilities 
which had been or were to be sold or closed and other operations that were 
being downsized.  The employees involved were notified by December 31, 1997 of 
the Corporation's plans to terminate their employment, along with their 
termination arrangements. 
 
- -     Losses on facility disposals included the write-down to estimated net 
realizable value of facilities which had been or were to be disposed of and 
related costs of disposition.  Three facilities represent nearly all of the 
charge.  Because these facilities were planned to be closed, rather than sold, 
the entire book value of each facility was written off.  A tissue 
manufacturing facility in Orleans, France was originally planned to be closed 
but was sold in 1998 as discussed in the "Adjustments and Reclassifications" 
section below.  A tissue manufacturing facility in Winslow, Maine was closed 
in April 1998.  Part of a tissue manufacturing and converting facility in 
Marinette, Wisconsin was closed in December 1997. 
 
- -     Write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets represented 
the net book value of older, less efficient machinery and equipment not needed 
in the restructured manufacturing operations; the elimination of excess 
manufacturing capacity; the write-down of the net book value of assets that 
became obsolete due to enacted U.S. environmental air and water emission 
rules; and the elimination of the Corporation's existing facilities and 
capacity which became excessive as a result of the Tecnol acquisition. 
 
- -     Asset impairments represented charges for manufacturing facilities where 
the future cash flows from operations and the sale or closure were estimated 
to be insufficient to cover the carrying amounts of such facilities. 
Each facility was written down to its estimated fair value based on the 
Corporation's assessment of expected future cash flows from operations 
and disposal, discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved. 
 
     The income tax benefits of the 1998 and 1997 Charges are estimated at 
$21.5 million and $190.2 million, respectively, or 19.8 percent and 27.1 
percent of the pretax 1998 and 1997 Charges, respectively.  These benefits 
are lower than the U.S. statutory income tax rate primarily because no tax 
benefits were recorded for certain costs related to operations in countries 
where the Corporation has income tax loss carryforwards and realization of 
tax benefits is not assured. 
 
     The 1997 Charge was based on management's Announced Plan to restructure 
the Corporation's worldwide operations and information available at the time 
the decision was made to undertake the required actions.  As discussed below, 
based on subsequent events, certain aspects of the actions contemplated in the 
1997 Charge were revised.  In addition, the costs of other actions under the 
Announced Plan were recorded in 1998.  Although certain specific actions 
originally included in the Announced Plan have been modified, the overall 
Announced Plan is expected to be accomplished at a total cost approximating 
the original estimate of $810.0 million. 
 



 
Adjustments and Reclassifications 
 
     The "Reallocations in 1998" column in the preceding summary reflects the 
following adjustments and reclassifications: 
 
- -     Included in the 1997 Charge were estimated losses for the planned 
closure of a tissue manufacturing facility at Orleans, France and other 
related costs.  During 1998, the closure plans were abandoned and the facility 
was sold.  As a result, the Corporation reallocated $17.5 million of the 
reserves for facility disposals to requirements under other qualifying 
programs identified in the Announced Plan. 
 
- -     Management canceled its plans to close a tissue facility in North 
America for which it had established an impairment reserve of $15.3 million as 
part of the 1997 Charge.  As a result of the change in plans, which was caused 
by the completion of an internal analysis that demonstrated the viability of a 
business that previously was not profitable, and by structural changes in 
operations, the Corporation reallocated the $15.3 million of the reserve for 
asset impairments to requirements under other qualifying programs identified 
in the Announced Plan. 
 
- -     Because of the decision to close the Canadian diaper facility which is 
part of the $123.2 million fourth quarter charge for facility consolidations, 
approximately $16.6 million of reserves for the write-down of excess diaper 
assets was determined to be unnecessary and these diaper assets were not 
removed from service.  The fourth quarter 1998 facility consolidations charge 
includes a write-off of the Canadian diaper facility to be closed in 1999, 
including the related costs of closure.  The decision to close this facility 
was a result of the substantial increase in the Corporation's diaper 
productivity in North America in the last three years.  As a result of this 
productivity increase and the effects of expected future productivity gains, 
manufacturing capacity was projected to exceed demand.  This closure will 
balance capacity with demand.  Because the facility is expected to be closed 
rather than sold, the entire book value of the facility was written off.  As a 
result of the cancellation of the diaper asset write-downs provided for in the 
1997 Charge, the Corporation reallocated the $16.6 million reserve for 
write-downs to requirements under other qualifying programs identified in the 
Announced Plan. 
 
- -     Included in the 1997 Charge was approximately $29.7 million for the 
write-down and removal of certain assets at the Corporation's pulp production 
operation in Mobile, Alabama.  In 1997, the U.S. Government enacted new 
environmental air and water emission rules that required reduced emission 
levels of certain chemical compounds from the Corporation's pulp production 
facilities.  These rules would have required the Corporation to spend more 
than $250 million to achieve the new emission levels at its Mobile pulp mill. 
S.D. Warren Company, a producer of printing and publishing papers, currently 
purchases approximately one-third of the pulp mill's output.  On May 4, 1998, 
S.D. Warren and the Corporation announced an agreement to terminate their pulp 
supply contract in September 1999.  As a result of the cancellation of the 
pulp supply contract and the cost of implementing the new emission rules, on 
May 5, 1998, the Corporation announced it would shut down its Mobile pulp mill 
on September 1, 1999, sell the associated woodlands and related operations 
("Southeast Timberlands") and retain its pulp facility in New Glasgow, Nova 
Scotia.  On January 5, 1999, the Corporation announced it had agreed to sell 
the Southeast Timberlands to an affiliate of a New York-based investment firm. 
As a result of these changes in plans, $10.6 million of the reserve for 
write-downs was reallocated to requirements under other qualifying programs 
identified in the Announced Plan. 
 
- -     In 1998, management committed to a plan to close a tissue manufacturing 
facility in order to continue to align capacity with demand.  The facility, 
the name of which has not yet been announced publicly, will be closed by the 
end of 2000.  Since this facility will be disposed of, its carrying amount was 
reduced to zero by reallocation of $26.8 million to the reserve for losses on 
facility disposals. 
 
- -     Also in 1998, management reallocated reserves to cover other qualifying 
programs that had either been underestimated in 1997 or were extensions of 
such programs.  None of these reallocations was individually material.  These 
other reallocations changed the individual categories of the reserve as 
follows: 
 
- -     Costs of workforce reduction decreased $2.5 million. 
 
- -     Write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets increased 
$9.6 million. 
 
- -     Contract terminations, cash costs for mill closures and other 
obligations increased $26.1 million. 
 
     During 1998, certain programs were completed at a total cost of $2.5 
million less than originally estimated in 1997, and such amount was returned 
to earnings in the Consolidated Income Statement.  Of this amount, $2.0 
million was reflected in the operating profit of the Health Care and Other 
segment and $.5 million was unallocated. 
 
     At December 31, 1998, there are no reserves remaining to be utilized that 
are not specifically identified with a qualifying program under the Announced 
Plan. 
 
Other Information 
 
     The restructuring activities involved in the Announced Plan did not 



affect the Corporation's business operations to any significant extent during 
the period that the restructuring was being implemented.  The principal 
benefits of the Announced Plan stem from facility consolidations, which has 
resulted in lower production costs and simplified manufacturing and sourcing 
strategies.  Management estimates that the Announced Plan will reduce 
operating costs by approximately $220 million annually in the year 2000.  As 
of December 31, 1998, management estimates that the Announced Plan has 
resulted in reduced annual operating costs of approximately $145 million and 
that it will result in additional annual operating cost savings of $50 million 
in 1999. Management estimates that the annual reduced costs of $220 million 
will be comprised of approximately 75 percent for salaries, wages and employee 
benefits, 14 percent for depreciation expense and 11 percent for other cash 
costs such as lease and contract payments. 
 
     Set forth below is a summary of the types and amounts of charges that 
were recognized as accrued liabilities for the Announced Plan together with 
cash payments made against such accruals for the two years ending December 31, 
1998. 
 
 
 
                              Charges(a)                  Charges(a) 
                                 in               Balance     in                     Balance 
(Millions of dollars)           1997   Payments   12/31/97   1998 Payments  Other(b) 12/31/98 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                
Workforce severance . . . . .  $ 57.6  $ (5.1)  $ 52.5     $43.1  $(47.6)  $    -   $ 48.0 
Facility closure costs. . . .    12.6    (3.3)     9.3         -    (4.8)       -      4.5 
Asset removal costs . . . . .    24.0     (.1)    23.9        .8   (13.2)       -     11.5 
Environmental costs and lease 
  and contract terminations .    37.9     (.3)    37.6      22.9   (22.0)     5.0     43.5 
Other costs . . . . . . . . .    71.2    (2.7)    68.5      23.2    (4.1)   (50.9)    36.7 
                               ------  -------  ------     -----  -------  -------  ------ 
 
                               $203.3  $(11.5)  $191.8     $90.0  $(91.7)  $(45.9)  $144.2 
                               ======  =======  ======     =====  =======  =======  ====== 
 
 
(a)     The charges in 1997 and 1998 were included in the restructuring and other 
unusual charges in the Consolidated Income Statement. 
 
(b)     Includes reclassification of $5.0 million from other accrued liabilities, and 
reclassification of $48.4 million from accrued liabilities to other assets for noncash 
items, and $2.5 million that was returned to earnings as discussed above. 
 
 
 
     Pursuant to the Corporation's accounting policies for business 
improvement programs, certain amounts are considered to be utilized prior to 
their being paid in cash.  For example, charges for severance payments are 
considered to be utilized when the liability for such payments becomes fixed 
and identified with individual employees.  Such amounts remain in accrued 
liabilities until paid in cash in accordance with the severance payment 
schedules.  Likewise, lease termination charges and other cash obligations are 
considered to be utilized when they become fixed obligations, but such 
liabilities remain in accrued liabilities until paid in accordance with the 
contractual arrangements.  Included in accrued liabilities for the Announced 
Plan are cash payment obligations for severance payments, lease payments and 
other cash obligations, totaling $81.5 million which, although utilized, 
remain to be paid in accordance with the individual arrangements.  At December 
31, 1998, the Announced Plan had $177.1 million remaining to be utilized, of 
which $114.4 million represents noncash items for the write-down of property, 
plant and equipment and other assets. 
 
     During 1997 and 1998, in accordance with SFAS 121, Accounting for the 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, 
depreciation expense was suspended on facilities included in the Announced 
Plan that were held for disposal.  Depreciation for these facilities would 
have been $7.5 million in 1998 and $3.3 million in 1997. 
 
     In addition, during 1997 and 1998, in accordance with SFAS 121, 
depreciation was suspended on certain pulp producing facilities that were held 
for disposal or disposed of.  Depreciation for these facilities would have 
been $12.6 million in 1998 and $47.3 million in 1997.  The reduction in 
suspended depreciation in 1998 versus 1997 was a result of the sale of a 
noncore pulp and newsprint facility located in Coosa Pines, Alabama ("Coosa") 
in March 1997 and the reclassification of the New Glasgow, Nova Scotia and the 
Terrace Bay, Ontario pulp manufacturing facilities from assets held for sale 
to property during 1998. 
 
     Determination of the individual results of operations of the above 
facilities during the depreciation suspension period is not meaningful because 
of the integration of the operations of these facilities into the overall 
consolidated operating results. 
 
1995 Restructuring 
 
     In connection with the Corporation's merger with Scott Paper Company 
("Scott"), the Corporation recorded a $1,440.0 million pretax charge in 1995 
for restructuring the combined organizations and for other unusual items 
related to the merger ("1995 Charge").  The following presents the total 1995 
Charge and the utilization of the charge for the three years ending December 
31, 1998. 
 
          (Millions of dollars)                                Amount 
          -------------------------------------------------------------- 



 
          1995 Charge                                         $1,440.0 
          Amount utilized in 1996                             (1,016.9) 
          Amount utilized in 1997                               (351.7) 
          Amount utilized in 1998                                (52.6) 
                                                            ----------- 
 
          Amount not utilized at December 31, 1998          $     18.8 
                                                             ========== 
 
 
 



 
     During 1996, 1997 and 1998, as part of management's process to monitor 
completion of the programs related to the 1995 Charge, certain amounts were 
identified as being in excess of the current estimate to complete the overall 
plan for the merger and restructuring.  The differences between the then 
current estimate and the remaining accrual balance for the plan were returned 
to earnings as credits to cost of products sold in the Consolidated Income 
Statement as follows:  1996, $65.0 million; 1997, $57.7 million; and 1998, 
$10.3 million.  These amounts, which were not material to consolidated 
operating profit in any of the three years, were included in the operating 
profit of the Tissue segment. 
 
     The Corporation is in the process of completing a final review of all of 
the approximately 350 programs that comprised the 1995 Charge to ensure that 
each of the programs has been completed.  At the conclusion of this review, 
the $18.8 million not utilized at December 31, 1998 will be reallocated to 
requirements under qualifying programs, if appropriate, or will be returned 
to earnings in the first quarter of 1999. 
 
     Set forth below is a summary of the types and amounts of charges that 
were recognized as accrued liabilities for the 1995 Charge together with cash 
payments made against such accruals for the two years ending December 31, 
1998. 
 
 
 
                                Balance                         Balance                        Balance 
 (Millions of dollars)          12/31/96   Payments   Other(a)  12/31/97 Payments  Other(a)   12/31/98 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                         
Workforce severance . . . . . . .  $ 88.7  $ (59.8)  $(15.1)    $13.8    $ (4.6)  $(7.9)     $ 1.3 
Asset removal costs . . . . . . .    22.2    (13.7)       -       8.5      (8.5)      -          - 
Environmental costs and lease and 
  contract terminations . . . . .    87.0    (31.3)   (24.3)     31.4      (9.9)   (6.2)      15.3 
Other costs . . . . . . . . . . .   141.8    (77.2)   (41.8)     22.8     (12.0)    8.2       19.0 
                                   ------  --------  -------    -----    -------  ------     ----- 
 
                                   $339.7  $(182.0)  $(81.2)    $76.5    $(35.0)  $(5.9)     $35.6 
                                   ======  ========  =======    =====    =======  ======     ===== 
 
 
(a)     Reclassifications from accrued liabilities to other assets, property, plant and 
equipment and inventory for noncash items, and the credits included in cost of products 
sold as discussed above. 
 
 
 
     The 1995 merger with Scott and the related restructuring of the combined 
operations of the two companies was successful.  Synergies were achieved and 
the Corporation is now a global consumer products company and the world's 
largest tissue manufacturing company.  The Corporation has a number one or two 
market position in many of the markets in which it competes.  As expected in 
any large merger and significant restructuring to combine two global 
organizations, there were temporary problems that arose, but which were 
addressed and resolved in the period following the merger.  In the U.S., the 
away-from-home portion of the Corporation's tissue business experienced 
temporarily lower sales volumes and excess production capacity following 
implementation of a new pricing structure.  In the European tissue business, 
the merger caused temporary disruptions of operations, lower efficiency and 
customer service and outsourcing of certain finished goods production, during 
periods when assets were being relocated and started-up. 
 
     At the time of the Scott merger, management estimated that the 1995 
Charge would reduce annual operating costs by approximately $250 million in 
1996, $400 million in 1997 and $500 million in 1998.  Actual savings achieved 
in 1996 exceeded the $250 million target.  In 1996, management forecasted that 
the expected savings to be achieved in 1997 were in line with the original 
target of $400 million.  The 1997 forecast of cost savings of approximately 
$400 million was comprised of approximately 40 percent from lower salaries, 
wages and employee benefits from reduced employee headcount, 
and the balance of the savings was attributable to other cash and noncash 
savings in affected operations.  The Corporation did not monitor savings after 
1996 because it was not practicable or cost effective to do so. 
 



 
 
 
 
ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED NET SALES - THREE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 
 
By Business Segment 
                                     Net Sales 
                         ---------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)     1998         1997         1996 
- ----------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                          
Tissue . . . . . . . . .  $ 6,706.2   $ 7,182.7   $ 8,183.6 
Personal Care. . . . . .    4,577.8     4,493.8     4,091.8 
Health Care and Other. .    1,047.1       908.0       926.7 
Intersegment sales - net      (33.3)      (37.9)      (53.0) 
                          ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
Consolidated . . . . . .  $12,297.8   $12,546.6   $13,149.1 
                          ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
 
 
 
 
By Geographic Area 
                                         Net Sales 
                              ----------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)             1998         1997         1996 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                
United States. . . . . . . . .  $ 8,018.2   $ 7,878.7   $ 8,142.5 
Canada . . . . . . . . . . . .      785.1     1,052.5     1,311.0 
Intergeographic sales - net. .     (409.1)     (397.3)     (451.7) 
                                ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
  Total North America. . . . .    8,394.2     8,533.9     9,001.8 
 
Europe . . . . . . . . . . . .    2,471.2     2,548.1     2,881.8 
Asia, Latin America and Africa    1,688.4     1,772.2     1,603.5 
Intergeographic sales - net. .     (256.0)     (307.6)     (338.0) 
                                ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
Consolidated . . . . . . . . .  $12,297.8   $12,546.6   $13,149.1 
                                ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
 
 
Commentary: 
 
1998 versus 1997 
- ---------------- 
 
     Consolidated net sales were 2.0 percent lower than in 1997.  In 1997, the 
Corporation divested Coosa and sold its 50.1 percent interest in Scott 
Paper Limited ("SPL").  In 1998, the Corporation sold 
its subsidiary, K-C Aviation Inc. ("KCA"). Excluding the 
revenues from these divested businesses for both years, consolidated 
net sales remained essentially even.  Sales volumes, however, 
increased more than 2 percent and selling prices were nearly 2 percent higher, 
primarily due to improved pricing for consumer tissue products in 
the United States.  However, changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates, primarily in Asia, reduced consolidated net sales slightly more than 
3 percent.  Although the preceding tables include the divested businesses, 
the following net sales commentary excludes their results in order to 
facilitate a more meaningful discussion. 
 
- -     Worldwide net sales for tissue products declined slightly more than 3 
percent primarily due to changes in currency exchange rates in Asia.  Sales 
volumes declined approximately 1 percent as sales volume increases in Latin 
America and for wet wipes products, primarily in North America, were offset by 
lower sales volumes in Europe and Asia and lower consumer towel volume in 
North America.  The decline in sales volumes, however, was more than offset by 
an increase of nearly 2 percent in selling prices. 
 
 



 
- -     Worldwide net sales of personal care products increased nearly 2 percent. 
Sales volumes grew by nearly 5 percent and selling prices increased by about 2 
percent; however, changes in foreign currency exchange rates reduced net sales 
by approximately 4 percent.  Training and youth pants in North America and 
sales volume growth in Latin America were the primary factors contributing to 
the overall sales volume increase.  These increases more than offset lower 
diaper sales volumes in North America and Europe which were attributable to 
the transition to larger size product packaging, the introduction of unisex 
product and increased competition. 
 
- -     Net sales for health care and other products increased more than 23 
percent due to sales volume growth in health care products, driven, in large 
part, by the acquisition of Tecnol in December 1997. 
 
1997 versus 1996 
- ---------------- 
 
     Consolidated net sales were 4.6 percent lower than in 1996.  In 1996, the 
Corporation divested certain businesses to satisfy U.S. and European 
regulatory requirements associated with the Corporation's merger with Scott. 
In 1997, the Corporation sold Coosa and its interest in SPL.  Excluding 
revenues from these businesses and KCA in both years, consolidated net sales 
remained essentially even.  Sales volumes, however, increased approximately 5 
percent.  Selling prices were nearly 2 percent lower than in 1996, primarily 
due to the lower selling prices for tissue products worldwide.  Changes in 
currency exchange rates reduced consolidated sales more than 2 percent in 
1997.  Although the preceding tables include the divested businesses, in order 
to facilitate a meaningful discussion, such results have been excluded from 
the following sales commentary. 
 
- -     Worldwide net sales for the tissue segment decreased approximately 5 
percent primarily due to lower selling prices and changes in currency exchange 
rates in Europe and Asia.  Sales volumes increased about 2 percent, as higher 
sales volumes in the U.S., Latin America and Asia more than offset lower 
volumes in Europe. 
 
- -     Worldwide net sales for personal care products increased slightly more 
than 10 percent and sales volumes were more than 14 percent higher.  Nearly 
all of the businesses in this segment participated in the increased sales 
volumes, with the primary contributors being training and youth pants and 
incontinence care products in North America and disposable diapers in Europe, 
Latin America and Asia.  Diaper volume resulting from acquisitions in France, 
Spain, Portugal and Brazil accounted for about 35 percent of the sales volume 
increase in personal care products. 
 
- -     Net sales for health care and other products increased approximately 6 
percent primarily due to higher sales volumes in health care products. 
 
     For purposes of this Management's Discussion and Analysis, and in order 
to facilitate a meaningful discussion of the ongoing operations of the 
Corporation, the charges described in the "Business Improvement and Other 
Programs" section are considered to be unusual items ("Unusual Items") and 
have been excluded from operating profit in the "Excluding Unusual Items" 
columns in the following Consolidated Operating Profit tables. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROFIT - THREE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
1998 
 
By Business Segment 
 
                              1998                        1997 
                       -------------------        ------------------ 
                           AS       EXCLUDING       As      Excluding 
(Millions of dollars)    REPORTED  UNUSUAL ITEMS Reported  Unusual Items    1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                           
Tissue. . . . . . . .  $  968.9   $1,136.1       $  637.1   $1,136.5     $1,346.5 
Personal Care . . . .     620.6      778.3          636.6      806.1        666.7 
Health Care and Other     188.6      190.6          136.3      160.3        138.0 
Unallocated - net . .    (102.0)    (101.3)        (106.8)     (98.5)       (97.5) 
                       ---------  ---------      ---------  ---------    --------- 
 
Consolidated. . . . .  $1,676.1   $2,003.7       $1,303.2   $2,004.4     $2,053.7 
                       =========  =========      =========  =========    ========= 
 
 
 
 
 
By Geographic Area 
 
                                       1998                        1997 
                          ---------------------------  ---------------------------- 
                                   AS    EXCLUDING        As        Excluding 
(Millions of dollars)          REPORTED UNUSUAL ITEMS  Reported   Unusual Items     1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
                                                                    
United States. . . . . . . . .  $1,573.4   $1,673.4   $1,206.2   $1,609.9          $1,592.3 
Canada . . . . . . . . . . . .      96.5      104.8      146.4      154.6             138.4 
Europe . . . . . . . . . . . .     (81.4)     125.5      (60.0)     129.8             220.4 
Asia, Latin America and Africa     189.6      201.3      117.4      208.6             200.1 
Unallocated - net. . . . . . .    (102.0)    (101.3)    (106.8)     (98.5)            (97.5) 
                                ---------  ---------  ---------  ---------         --------- 
 
Consolidated . . . . . . . . .  $1,676.1   $2,003.7   $1,303.2   $2,004.4          $2,053.7 
                                =========  =========  =========  =========         ========= 
 
 
Note:     Unallocated - net consists of expenses not associated with the 
business segments or geographic areas. 
 
 
Commentary: 
 
1998 versus 1997 
- ---------------- 
 
     Excluding the Unusual Items, operating profit was essentially even, but 
increased to 16.3 percent in 1998 from 16.0 percent in 1997 as a percentage of 
net sales.  Excluding the divested businesses and the Unusual Items for both 
years, operating profit increased approximately 2 percent.  The increase in 
operating profit was due to the price and sales volume increases partially 
offset by higher spending for advertising and promotion, the negative effect 
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and additional goodwill 
amortization.  The following operating profit commentary excludes the Unusual 
Items and the results of divested businesses in both years. 
 
- -     Tissue operating profit increased nearly 3 percent principally due to 
the selling price increases.  Restructuring and other cost savings were 
partially offset by changes in currency exchange rates. 
 
- -     Operating profit for personal care declined slightly more than 3 
percent, as increased advertising and promotion, and product improvement 
costs, primarily in North America, and changes in currency exchange rates more 
than offset the gains in selling prices and sales volumes. 
 
- -     Operating profit for health care and other products increased 
approximately 21 percent due, in large part, to the acquisition of Tecnol, 
partially offset by increased goodwill amortization. 
 
- -     Changes in currency exchange rates reduced consolidated operating profit 
by more than 2 percent. 
 
1997 versus 1996 
- ---------------- 
 
     Excluding the Unusual Items, operating profit declined 2.4 percent in 
absolute terms, but increased to 16.0 percent from 15.6 percent in 1996 as a 
percentage of net sales.  Excluding the divested businesses in both years and 
the Unusual Items, operating profit increased approximately 2 percent.  The 
operating profit increase was attributable to the sales volume increases, 
manufacturing efficiencies and lower pulp costs.  These improvements were 
partially offset by the lower selling prices, heightened competition in Europe 
and the transitional effects of strategic changes made in the away-from-home 



portion of the Corporation's North American tissue business.  The following 
operating profit commentary excludes the Unusual Items in 1997 and the results 
of divested businesses in both years. 
 
- -     Cost reductions and manufacturing efficiencies were achieved in the 
North American personal care and consumer tissue businesses. 
 
- -     The transitional effects of the strategic changes in the tissue business 
had a negative impact on operating profit of approximately $75 million in 
1997. 
 
- -     Marketing costs were lower in the North American personal care and 
consumer tissue businesses, but were higher in Latin America, primarily to 
support business expansions. 
 
- -     General expenses were higher principally as a result of business 
expansions outside North America. 
 
- -     Changes in currency exchange rates reduced consolidated operating profit 
by approximately 1 percent in 1997. 
 
 
ADDITIONAL INCOME STATEMENT COMMENTARY 
 
1998 versus 1997 
- ---------------- 
 
- -     Interest expense increased primarily due to higher average debt levels. 
 
- -     Excluding the extraordinary gains and the cumulative effect of an 
accounting change, the Corporation's effective income tax rate was 34.6 
percent in 1998 compared with 36.5 percent in 1997.  Furthermore, excluding 
the charges related to the Announced Plan from both years, the Corporation's 
effective income tax rate was 33.6 percent in 1998 compared with 33.0 percent 
in 1997. 
 
- -     Other income in 1998 includes a gain on the sale of KCA equal to $.14 
per share. 
 
- -     Other income in 1997 includes a gain on the sale of the Corporation's 
interest in Ssangyong Paper Co., Ltd. ("Ssangyong"), of Korea, equal to $.03 
per share. 
 
- -     The Corporation's 1998 share of net income of equity companies includes 
a charge equal to $.02 per share related to the change in the value of the 
Mexican peso.  In 1997, a gain equal to $.03 per share, primarily related to 
the sale of a portion of the tissue business of Kimberly-Clark de Mexico, S.A. 
de C.V. ("KCM")  to meet Mexican regulatory requirements in connection with 
KCM's merger with Scott's former Mexican affiliate, was included in the 
Corporation's share of net income of equity companies.  Also included in the 
Corporation's share of 1997 net income of equity companies was $2.2 million of 
the 1997 Charge.  Excluding these items in both years, the Corporation's share 
of net income of equity companies increased 2.2 percent. 
 
- -     For 1997, minority owners' share of subsidiaries' net income includes 
$10.1 million attributable to other owners' share of the 1997 Charge.  Also 
included is $8.7 million of other owners' share of the net income of SPL. 
Excluding these items, minority owners' share of subsidiaries' net income 
decreased $4.8 million. 
 
- -     In March 1997, the Corporation sold Coosa for approximately $600 million 
in cash.  Also, in the first quarter of 1997, the Corporation recorded 
impairment losses on the planned disposal of a pulp manufacturing mill in 
Miranda, Spain; a recycled fiber facility in Oconto Falls, Wisconsin; and a 
tissue converting facility in Yucca, Arizona; and on an integrated pulp making 
facility in Everett, Washington.  These impairment losses totaled $111.5 
million before income tax benefits.  In June 1997, the Corporation completed 
the sale of its interest in SPL for approximately $127 million.  Accounting 
regulations require that certain transactions following a business combination 
that was accounted for as a pooling of interests be reported as extraordinary 
items.  Accordingly, the above described transactions were aggregated and 
reported as extraordinary gains totaling $17.5 million, net of applicable 
income taxes of $38.4 million.  These extraordinary gains were equal to $.03 
per share. 
 
- -     Effective January 1, 1998, the Corporation changed its method of 
accounting for preoperating and start-up costs to expense these costs as 
incurred in accordance with new accounting requirements.  Previously, these 
costs on major projects were capitalized and amortized over five years.  As 
required, 1998 first quarter results were restated to record a pretax charge 
of $17.8 million for the write-off of deferred preoperating and start-up 
costs.  The cumulative effect of this accounting change is presented on the 
income statement net of income taxes.  This charge reduced reported net income 
for the first quarter and the year by $.02 per share. 
 
- -     Excluding the Unusual Items in 1998 and 1997, the gains on asset 
disposals in both years, the change in the value of the Mexican peso, the 
cumulative effect of the accounting change in 1998, and the extraordinary 
gains in 1997, earnings per share from operations increased to $2.46 from 
$2.44 in 1997. 
 
1997 versus 1996 
- ---------------- 
 
- -     Interest expense declined primarily as a result of lower average debt 
levels. 



 
- -     Excluding the extraordinary gains, the Corporation's effective income 
tax rate was 36.5 percent in 1997 compared with 35.0 percent in 1996. 
Furthermore, excluding the Unusual Items, the Corporation's effective income 
tax rate for 1997 was 33.0 percent.  The decline in the effective rate to 33.0 
percent from 35.0 percent was primarily due to additional tax planning 
opportunities, some of which arose from the Scott merger. 
 
- -     Other income in 1996 includes a net pretax gain from regulatory 
divestitures required in connection with the Scott merger and from the sale of 
the Corporation's remaining interest in Midwest Express Holdings, Inc.  These 
transactions resulted in a gain of $.13 per share. 
 
- -     In 1996, a portion of the operations of KCM was restructured to, among 
other things, eliminate duplicate capacity and to satisfy regulatory 
requirements.  The Corporation's share of KCM's after-tax restructuring charge 
in 1996 was equal to $.01 per share.  Excluding the previously mentioned 1997 
equity company items and this 1996 item, the Corporation's share of equity 
company net income declined 9.3 percent.  The decline was attributable to KCM. 
Although KCM's sales and operating profit showed year-to-year increases of 
more than 5 and 8 percent, respectively, the year-to-year comparison of the 
Corporation's share of KCM's net income was adversely affected by an unusually 
low effective tax rate in 1996 and by a required change to hyperinflationary 
accounting for Mexican operations in 1997. 
 
- -     Excluding the previously mentioned minority owners' share of the 1997 
Charge, minority owners' share of subsidiaries' net income declined about 25 
percent.  The decline is primarily due to the sale of the Corporation's 
interest in SPL and increased ownership in certain subsidiaries in Central 
America in 1997. 
 
- -     The effective income tax rate on the extraordinary gains, which are 
described in the "1998 versus 1997" narrative, was higher than the normal 
effective rate due to income tax loss carryforwards in Spain which precluded 
the current recognition of the income tax benefit on the Miranda, Spain 
impairment loss and the tax basis in SPL being substantially lower than the 
carrying amount of the investment in the financial statements. 
 
- -     Excluding the Unusual Items, the gains on asset disposals in both years, 
the extraordinary gains in 1997, and the Corporation's share of KCM's 1996 
restructuring charge, earnings per share from operations increased to $2.44 
from $2.37 in 1996. 
 
 
 
 
SALES OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS 
 
(Billions of dollars)       1998    1997   1996   1995 
- -------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                     
Tissue-based products       $ 5.7  $ 6.1  $ 6.9  $ 6.9 
Diapers . . . . . . .         2.6    2.7    2.3    2.1 
All other . . . . . .         4.0    3.7    3.9    4.4 
                            -----  -----  -----  ----- 
 
Consolidated. . . . .       $12.3  $12.5  $13.1  $13.4 
                            =====  =====  =====  ===== 
 
 
 
- -     Consolidated net sales have decreased $1.1 billion, or 8.2 percent, 
since 1995 primarily due to the divestment of noncore businesses and those 
businesses that were sold in connection with the Scott merger. 
 
- -     The decrease in sales from 1995 to 1996 is primarily attributable to 
the loss of revenues from businesses that were divested in 1995 -- 
Schweitzer-Mauduit International, Inc. and Midwest Express Airlines, Inc. -- 
and the businesses that were sold in 1996 in connection with the Scott merger. 
Excluding the net sales of these businesses in both years, consolidated net 
sales increased 4.6 percent. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
                                       Year Ended December 31 
                                        ---------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                        1998     1997 
- -------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                
Cash provided by operations. . . . . . .  $1,991.3   $1,406.6 
Capital spending . . . . . . . . . . . .     669.5      944.3 
Acquisitions of businesses . . . . . . .     342.5       82.2 
Proceeds from dispositions of businesses     324.9      779.6 
Ratio of net debt to capital . . . . . .      36.4%      33.5% 
Pretax interest coverage - times . . . .       9.2        8.1 
 
 
 
Cash Flow Commentary: 
 
- -     Cash provided by operations increased $584.7 million.  Although net 
income plus net noncash charges included in net income was approximately $2.0 
billion in both 1998 and 1997, the Corporation reduced its investment in 
operating working capital in 1998 compared with 1997, which is the principal 
reason for the increase in cash flow from operations.  Major operating uses of 
cash in 1998 were the cash used to reduce trade accounts payable and accrued 
expenses partially offset by a reduction in accounts receivable and the timing 
of income tax payments. 
 
- -     Approximately $92 million and $12 million of cash payments were charged 
to the reserves related to the Announced Plan in 1998 and 1997, respectively. 
 
- -     Cash proceeds received in 1998 in connection with the sale of KCA and 
other asset disposals totaled $324.9 million.  Cash proceeds received in 1997 
in connection with the Coosa and SPL disposals, the sale of Ssangyong and 
other asset sales totaled $779.6 million. 
 
- -     In 1998, the Corporation purchased 19.5 million shares of its common 
stock in connection with its share repurchase program at a total cost of 
approximately $900 million.  In October 1998, the Corporation's board of 
directors authorized the repurchase of 25 million shares, of which the 
remaining authority at December 31, 1998 was 21.0 million shares.  In 1997, 
the Corporation purchased 17.9 million shares of its common stock in 
connection with its share repurchase program at a total cost of approximately 
$900 million. 
 
Financing Commentary: 
 
- -     At December 31, 1998, total debt was $2.7 billion compared with $2.5 
billion at December 31, 1997. Net debt (total debt net of cash, cash 
equivalents and $220 million of long-term notes receivable) was $2.3 billion 
at December 31, 1998 compared with $2.2 billion at December 31, 1997.  The 
Corporation's ratio of net debt to capital was 36.4 percent at December 31, 
1998 compared with 33.5 percent at December 31, 1997, which is within its 
target range of 30 percent to 40 percent. 
 
- -     The increase in the pretax interest coverage is due primarily to the 
higher level of pretax income.  Excluding the effect of the Unusual Items in 
1998 and 1997, the pretax interest coverage would have been 10.3 times and 
11.9 times, respectively. 
 
- -     On January 9, 1998, the Corporation issued $200 million principal amount 
of 6 3/8% Debentures due January 1, 2028.  This issuance supported the 
Corporation's classification of $200 million of short-term commercial paper as 
long-term debt in the December 31, 1997 Consolidated Balance Sheet. 
 
- -     On July 20, 1998, the Corporation issued $300 million principal amount 
of 6 1/4% Debentures due July 15, 2018, and used the proceeds to retire 
commercial paper. 
 
- -     A shelf registration statement for $200 million of debt securities is on 
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").  The registration 
provides flexibility to issue debt promptly if the Corporation's needs and 
market conditions warrant.  The Corporation filed a new shelf registration 
statement for an additional $500 million of debt securities which as of 
February 28, 1999 had not yet been declared effective by the SEC. 
 
- -     Revolving credit facilities of $1.0 billion are in place for general 
corporate purposes and to back up commercial paper borrowings. 
 
- -     The Corporation's long-term debt securities have a Double-A rating, and 
its commercial paper is rated in the top category. 
 
Other Commentary: 
 
- -     On May 5, 1998, the Corporation announced its intention to shut down its 
Mobile pulp mill on September 1, 1999 and sell the Southeast Timberlands.  On 
January 5, 1999, the Corporation announced that it had agreed to sell the 
Southeast Timberlands to an affiliate of a New York-based investment firm. 
The sale, which is subject to regulatory clearances and completion of 
financing, is expected to close in the first half of 1999. 
 



- -     On December 23, 1998, the Corporation announced that it had signed a 
definitive agreement to acquire Ballard Medical Products ("Ballard"), a 
leading maker of disposable medical devices for respiratory care, 
gastroenterology and cardiology.  Under the agreement, Ballard shareholders 
will receive $25 for each share of Ballard common stock, payable in shares of 
the Corporation's common stock.  The transaction, which is valued at 
approximately $764 million, remains subject to regulatory clearances and 
approval by the Ballard shareholders.  The transaction is expected to be 
completed in April 1999 and will be accounted for as a purchase. 
 
- -     In May 1998, the Corporation purchased a 50 percent equity interest in 
Klabin Tissue, S.A. (now known as Klabin Kimberly S.A.), the leading tissue 
manufacturer in Brazil. 
 
- -     In July 1998, the Corporation purchased a 51 percent ownership interest 
in Kimberly Bolivia, S.A., a new joint venture company in Bolivia. 
 
- -     In July 1998, the Corporation purchased an additional 10 percent 
ownership interest in its Korean affiliate, YuHan-Kimberly, Limited, 
increasing its ownership interest to 70 percent. 
 
- -     On December 18, 1997, the Corporation completed the acquisition of 
Tecnol, a leading maker of disposable face masks and patient care products, 
through the exchange of approximately 8.7 million shares of the Corporation's 
common stock for all outstanding shares of Tecnol common stock.  The 
transaction, which was valued at approximately $428 million, was accounted for 
as a purchase. 
 
- -     Management believes that the Corporation's ability to generate cash from 
operations and its capacity to issue short-term and long-term debt are 
adequate to fund working capital, capital spending and other needs in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
 



 
MARKET RISK SENSITIVITY AND INFLATION RISKS 
 
     As required by Financial Accounting Reporting Release No. 48 issued by 
the SEC, the Corporation is disclosing information concerning market risk with 
respect to foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.  The 
Corporation has elected to make such disclosures utilizing a sensitivity 
analysis approach based on hypothetical changes in foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and commodity prices. 
 
     As a multinational enterprise, the Corporation is exposed to changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.  The 
Corporation employs a variety of practices to manage these market risks, 
including its operating and financing activities and, where deemed 
appropriate, the use of derivative financial instruments.  The Corporation 
uses derivative financial instruments only for risk management purposes and 
does not use them for speculation or for trading.  All derivative instruments 
are either exchange traded or are entered into with major financial 
institutions for the purpose of reducing the Corporation's credit risk and the 
risk of nonperformance by third parties. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
     Foreign currency risk is managed by the use of foreign currency forward, 
swap and option contracts.  The use of these contracts allows the Corporation 
to manage its transactional exposure to exchange rate fluctuations because the 
gains or losses incurred on the derivative instruments will offset in whole, 
or in part, losses or gains on the underlying foreign currency exposure.  The 
Corporation's most significant foreign currency risk relates to the Mexican 
peso.  There have been no significant changes in how foreign currency 
transactional exposures were managed during 1998, and management does not 
foresee or expect any significant changes in such exposures or in the 
strategies it employs to manage them in the near future. 
 
     Foreign currency contracts and transactional exposures are sensitive to 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  As of December 31, 1998, a ten 
percent unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against the 
prevailing market rates of the foreign currencies in which the Corporation has 
transactional exposures would have resulted in a net pretax loss of 
approximately $39 million.  Gains or losses on foreign currency contracts and 
transactional exposures are defined as the difference between the contract 
rates and the hypothetical exchange rates.  In the view of management, the 
above losses resulting from the hypothetical changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates are not material to the Corporation's consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
     Interest rate risk is managed through the maintenance of a portfolio of 
variable- and fixed-rate debt composed of short- and long-term instruments. 
The objective is to maintain a cost-effective mix that management deems 
appropriate.  At December 31, 1998, the Corporation's debt portfolio was 
composed of approximately 31 percent variable-rate debt, adjusted for the 
effect of variable-rate assets, and 69 percent fixed-rate debt.  The strategy 
employed by the Corporation to manage its exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations did not change significantly during 1998, and management does not 
foresee or expect any significant changes in its exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations or in how such exposure is managed in the near future. 
 
     Various financial instruments issued by the Corporation and its 
subsidiaries are sensitive to changes in interest rates.  Interest rate 
changes would result in gains or losses in the market value of the 
Corporation's fixed-rate debt due to differences between the current market 
interest rates and the rates governing these instruments.  With respect to the 
Corporation's fixed-rate debt outstanding at December 31, 1998, a ten percent 
change in interest rates would have resulted in no material change in the fair 
value of the Corporation's fixed-rate debt.  With respect to the Corporation's 
commercial paper and other variable-rate debt, a ten percent increase in 
interest rates would have had no material effect on the Corporation's pro 
forma interest expense for 1998. 
 



 
 
Commodity Price Risk 
 
     The Corporation is subject to commodity price risk arising from price 
movement for purchased pulp, the market price of which is determined by 
industry supply and demand.  Selling prices of the Corporation's tissue 
products are influenced by the market price for pulp.  On a worldwide basis, 
the Corporation has reduced its internal pulp supply to approximately 75 
percent of its virgin fiber needs.  Closure of the Mobile pulp mill in 
September 1999 will reduce the percentage of integration of the Corporation's 
pulp requirements to approximately 45 percent.  The Corporation has announced 
its intention to further reduce its level of pulp integration to approximately 
20 percent.  However, such a reduction in pulp integration could increase the 
Corporation's commodity price risk.  Specifically, increases in pulp prices 
could adversely affect the Corporation's earnings if selling prices are not 
adjusted or if such adjustments significantly trail the increases in pulp 
prices. Conversely, if the Corporation does not lower its level of pulp 
integration and the market price for pulp declines, thereby possibly causing 
selling prices for tissue products to fall, the Corporation's profit margin 
could suffer, and if the price of pulp increases, thereby possibly causing the 
selling prices of tissue products to rise, the Corporation's profits could 
improve.  The Corporation has not used derivative instruments in the 
management of these risks. 
 
Inflation Risk 
 
     The Corporation's inflation risks are managed on an entity-by-entity 
basis through selective price increases, productivity increases and 
cost-containment measures.  Management does not believe that inflation risk is 
material to the Corporation's business or its consolidated financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows. 
 
 
"YEAR 2000" READINESS 
 
     Since 1995, the Corporation has been involved in a worldwide program to 
be "Year 2000" ready. The program involves reviews of major business, 
financial and other information systems, including equipment with embedded 
microprocessors; development of specific plans for modification or replacement 
of date-sensitive software or microprocessors; execution of such plans; and 
the testing of such systems to ensure their "Year 2000" readiness.  Included 
within the scope of the program are contacts with key suppliers and customers 
to determine the extent of their "Year 2000" readiness in order to ensure a 
steady flow of goods and services to the Corporation and continuity with 
respect to customer service. 
 
     The Corporation's Crisis Management Program has been expanded, where 
necessary, to include contingency plans relating to possible "Year 2000" 
issues.  This program includes, among other things, contingency plans and 
backup procedures to be followed in case of failure of production operations, 
the inability of major suppliers to fulfill their commitments, and the 
inability of major customers to submit orders and receive product. 
 
     The Corporation's "Year 2000" contingency plans are developed and managed 
at the individual business and staff levels.  Consequently, such plans vary 
depending on the requirements of the individual and staff units, and their 
customers, vendors and service providers.  Examples of contingency plans that 
are being considered and may be implemented are as follows:  stockpiling 
certain critical raw materials; negotiating alternative vendors to use in the 
event a primary vendor experiences a "Year 2000" problem; use of manual 
processing procedures in the event of computer failure; and on-site visits and 
consultation with major customers and suppliers to ensure a continuation of 
normal operations from the end of 1999 to early 2000.  The Corporation expects 
to have the majority of its contingency plans formalized by mid-year 1999. 
 
     Progress against the "Year 2000" readiness plan is monitored and reported 
to senior management and to the Corporation's board of directors on a regular 
basis.  As of December 31, 1998, management estimates that it has completed 
more than 60 percent of the work involved in modifying, replacing and testing 
the Corporation's major systems and microprocessors, and management plans to 
have substantially all such work completed by June 30, 1999. 
 
     The total cost to ensure "Year 2000" readiness, which is primarily 
comprised of staff time and the cost of replacing certain computerized systems 
and microprocessors, is estimated to be approximately $80 million.  Management 
estimates that $39 million has been incurred for this purpose as of 
December 31, 1998. 
 
     Neither the "Year 2000" issue nor the financial effects of the reviews, 
modifications, replacements and testing discussed above are expected to have a 
material adverse effect on the Corporation's business or its consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
     Management believes that its "Year 2000" readiness program has 
encompassed all reasonable actions and contingency plans to avoid business 
interruptions resulting from "Year 2000" problems. The Corporation has no 
information that indicates that a significant vendor may be unable to sell to 
the Corporation; that a significant customer may be unable to purchase from 
the Corporation; or that a significant service provider may be unable to 
provide services to the Corporation.  Notwithstanding the above, the effect, 
if any, on the Corporation's future results of operations, due to the 
Corporation's major customers or suppliers not being "Year 2000" ready, cannot 
be reasonably estimated. Management believes that this latter risk is 
mitigated somewhat by the Corporation's broad base of customers and suppliers 



and the worldwide nature of its operations. 
 
 
ADOPTION OF THE EURO 
 
     In 1997 the Corporation established a task force to address the business 
issues raised by the introduction of a European single currency (the "Euro") 
for initial implementation on January 1, 1999 and during the transition period 
through January 1, 2002.  During January 1999, the Corporation's European 
operations began processing certain transactions denominated in the Euro. 
These transactions have been processed accurately and efficiently.  At an 
appropriate point during the transition period, the Corporation's financial 
systems located in the participating countries will be converted from local 
currency denominations to Euros.  Management does not expect the introduction 
of the Euro to result in any material risk or a material increase in costs to 
the Corporation.  All costs associated with the introduction of the Euro will 
be charged to income as incurred. 
 
 
CONTINGENCIES AND LEGAL MATTERS 
 
     In connection with the Mobile pulp mill closure, and as permitted by the 
terms of the governing contract, on May 5, 1998, the Corporation gave notice 
to Mobile Energy Services Company, L.L.C. ("MESC") of the Corporation's intent 
to terminate MESC's long-term contract for power, steam and liquor processing 
services with respect to the pulp mill.  The resulting termination penalty 
which is specified in the contract will be included in the calculation of the 
expected net gain that will be recorded at the time of the closing of the sale 
of the Southeast Timberlands.  On January 14, 1999, MESC and Mobile Energy 
Services Holdings, Inc. filed an action against the Corporation claiming 
unspecified damages in connection with the cancellation of the contract.  This 
action is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's 
business or results of operations. 
 
     On May 13, 1997, the State of Florida, acting through its attorney 
general, filed a complaint in the Gainesville Division of the United States 
District Court for the Northern District of Florida (the "Florida District 
Court"), alleging that manufacturers of tissue products for away-from-home 
use, including the Corporation and Scott, agreed to fix prices by coordinating 
price increases for such products.  Following Florida's complaint, an action 
by the states of Maryland, New York and West Virginia, as well as 
approximately 45 class action complaints, have been filed in various federal 
and state courts around the United States.  These actions contain allegations 
similar to those made by the State of Florida in its complaint.  The actions 
in federal courts have been consolidated for pretrial proceedings in the 
Florida District Court.  Class certification was granted in the federal 
proceedings in July 1998 and will be contested in the state cases.  The 
foregoing actions seek an unspecified amount of actual and treble damages. 
The Corporation has answered the complaints in these actions and has denied 
the allegations contained therein as well as any liability.  Discovery is 
proceeding. 
 
     The Corporation intends to contest these claims vigorously.  Management 
does not expect these actions to have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation's business or results of operations. 
 
     The Corporation also is subject to routine litigation from time to time, 
which, individually or in the aggregate, is not expected to have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation's business or results of operations. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
     The Corporation is subject to federal, state and local environmental 
protection laws and regulations with respect to its business operations and is 
operating in compliance with, or taking action aimed at ensuring compliance 
with, such laws and regulations.  Compliance with these laws and regulations 
is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's 
business or results of operations.  The Corporation has been named as a 
potentially responsible party at a number of waste disposal sites, none of 
which, individually or in the aggregate, in management's opinion, is likely to 
have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business or results of 
operations. 
 
 
OUTLOOK 
 
     The Corporation encountered difficult challenges in 1998, primarily in 
Europe and Asia.  In Europe, financial results suffered due to intense 
competition in tissue and the costs of expanding diaper manufacturing capacity 
and launching improved diapers and feminine care products.  In response, a new 
management team was formed for the European operations and it has moved 
quickly to address the issues in that area.  In Asia, despite the economic 
turmoil in that region, the Corporation has improved its market share in many 
of its product categories. 
 
     The Corporation expects to sustain the double-digit growth in earnings 
per share from operations that it achieved in the second half of 1998.  Among 
other things, this expectation is based on the Corporation's strengths in 
product brands and technology which are expected to enable the Corporation to 
continue to bring product innovation into the marketplace and build its 
presence in markets around the world.  The Corporation intends to continue to 
employ the strategy that it has successfully used in the personal care and 
health care businesses and is now applying to the tissue businesses. 
Specifically, the Corporation intends to utilize technology to deliver 
superior-performing products that are favored in the marketplace.  In 



addition, the Corporation intends to leverage its technology and cost 
advantages in nonwoven fabrics to attain continued growth in the health care 
business. 
 
     Management believes that as a result of its three-year process of 
redesigning and rationalizing the Corporation's asset base - by eliminating 
excess, high-cost capacity and consolidating its operations into fewer, larger 
and more efficient facilities - the Corporation has realized, and will continue 
to realize, significant cost savings.  In addition, management believes that 
the reconfigured operations give the Corporation the right technologies in the 
right locations to support the Corporation's future growth. 
 
     Management also believes that the Corporation's new global organizational 
structure will drive sales growth, improve efficiency and increase the speed 
at which the Corporation brings new products to the marketplace. 
 
 
INFORMATION CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
     Certain matters discussed in this report concerning, among other things, 
the business outlook, anticipated financial and operating results, strategies, 
contingencies and contemplated transactions of the Corporation including, but 
not limited to, the adequacy of the 1998 and 1997 Charges, the remaining costs 
of the Announced Plan, the adequacy of the 1998 facility consolidations 
charge, the sale of the Southeast Timberlands, the "Year 2000" readiness 
program, and the adoption of the Euro, constitute forward-looking statements 
and are based upon management's expectations and beliefs concerning future 
events impacting the Corporation.  There can be no assurance that these events 
will occur or that the Corporation's results will be as estimated. 
 
     The assumptions used as a basis for the forward-looking statements 
include many estimates that, among other things, depend on the achievement of 
future cost savings, including cost savings as a result of the 1998 facility 
consolidations and the Announced Plan, and the ability to achieve intended 
facilities consolidations, projected volume increases and projected 
divestitures on terms advantageous to the Corporation.  Furthermore, the 
Corporation has assumed that it will continue to identify suitable acquisition 
candidates in those product markets where it intends to grow by acquisition. 
In addition, many factors outside the control of the Corporation, including 
the prices of the Corporation's raw materials, potential competitive pressures 
on selling prices or advertising and promotion expenses for the Corporation's 
products, and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as well as 
general economic conditions in the markets in which the Corporation does 
business, also could impact the realization of such estimates. 
 
     For a description of these and other factors that could cause the 
Corporation's future results to differ materially from those expressed in any 
such forward-looking statements, see the section of Part I, Item I of the 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled "Factors That May Affect 
Future Results." 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
                                                                     Year Ended December 31 
                                                                     ---------------------- 
(Millions of dollars, except per share amounts)                   1998        1997         1996 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                                 
NET SALES                                                        $12,297.8   $12,546.6   $13,149.1 
  Cost of products sold                                            7,597.8     7,972.6     8,241.4 
                                                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
GROSS PROFIT                                                       4,700.0     4,574.0     4,907.7 
  Advertising, promotion and selling expenses                      1,937.4     1,937.2     2,029.7 
  Research expense                                                   224.8       211.8       207.9 
  General expense                                                    726.9       623.9       603.0 
  Goodwill amortization                                               33.3        16.8        13.4 
  Restructuring and other unusual charges                            101.5       481.1           - 
                                                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
OPERATING PROFIT                                                   1,676.1     1,303.2     2,053.7 
  Interest income                                                     24.3        31.4        28.1 
  Interest expense                                                  (198.7)     (164.8)     (186.7) 
  Other income (expense), net                                        124.4        17.7       107.2 
                                                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES                                         1,626.1     1,187.5     2,002.3 
  Provision for income taxes                                         561.9       433.1       700.8 
                                                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
INCOME BEFORE EQUITY INTERESTS                                     1,064.2       754.4     1,301.5 
  Share of net income of equity companies                            137.1       157.3       152.4 
  Minority owners' share of subsidiaries' net income                 (24.3)      (27.7)      (50.1) 
                                                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
INCOME BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY GAINS AND CUMULATIVE 
    EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE                                    1,177.0       884.0     1,403.8 
    Extraordinary gains, net of income taxes                             -        17.5           - 
    Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes      (11.2)          -           - 
                                                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
NET INCOME                                                       $ 1,165.8   $   901.5   $ 1,403.8 
                                                                 ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
PER SHARE BASIS 
    BASIC 
    Income before extraordinary gains and cumulative effect 
      of accounting change                                       $    2.14   $    1.59   $    2.49 
                                                                 ==========  ==========  ========== 
    Net income                                                   $    2.12   $    1.62   $    2.49 
                                                                 ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
  DILUTED 
    Income before extraordinary gains and cumulative effect 
      of accounting change                                       $    2.13   $    1.58   $    2.48 
                                                                 ==========  ==========  ========== 
    Net income                                                   $    2.11   $    1.61   $    2.48 
                                                                 ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 



 
 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
                                                December 31 
                                                ----------- 
(Millions of dollars)  ASSETS                1998        1997 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 
  Cash and cash equivalents                $   144.0  $    90.8 
 
  Accounts receivable                        1,465.2    1,606.3 
 
  Inventories                                1,283.8    1,319.5 
 
  Deferred income taxes                        356.4      341.6 
 
  Prepaid expenses and other                   117.5      130.8 
                                           ---------  --------- 
 
    TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS. . . . . . . . .    3,366.9    3,489.0 
 
PROPERTY 
 
  Land and timberlands                         159.4      202.0 
 
  Buildings                                  1,670.1    1,472.6 
 
  Machinery and equipment                    8,454.7    7,715.0 
 
  Construction in progress                     263.5      366.6 
                                           ---------  --------- 
 
                                            10,547.7    9,756.2 
 
  Less accumulated depreciation              4,702.7    4,155.6 
                                           ---------  --------- 
 
    NET PROPERTY. . . . . . . . . . . . .    5,845.0    5,600.6 
 
INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY COMPANIES                813.1      567.7 
 
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE                           109.5      280.0 
 
GOODWILL, NET OF ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION      588.3      594.8 
 
OTHER ASSETS                                   787.5      733.9 
                                           ---------  --------- 
 
                                           $11,510.3  $11,266.0 
                                           =========  ========= 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                  December 31 
                                                                                  ----------- 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                                           1998        1997 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                                    
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
  Debt payable within one year                                               $   635.4   $   663.1 
 
  Trade accounts payable                                                         663.0       747.1 
 
  Other payables                                                                 340.2       302.3 
 
  Accrued expenses                                                             1,453.7     1,445.6 
 
  Accrued income taxes                                                           562.9       408.8 
 
  Dividends payable                                                              135.5       131.4 
                                                                             ----------  ---------- 
 
    TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                                                  3,790.7     3,698.3 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT                                                                 2,068.2     1,803.9 
 
NONCURRENT EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS                                899.9       887.1 
 
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES                                                            666.3       580.8 
 
MINORITY OWNERS' INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES                                       198.0       162.6 
 
 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
  Preferred stock - no par value - authorized 20.0 million shares, 
    none issued                                                                      -           - 
 
    Common stock - $1.25 par value - authorized 1.2 billion shares; 
    issued 568.6 million shares at December 31, 1998 and 1997                    710.8       710.8 
 
  Additional paid-in capital                                                      86.3       113.3 
 
    Common stock held in treasury, at cost - 30.3 million and 12.3 million 
    shares at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively                        (1,454.7)     (617.1) 
 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                                 (964.3)     (966.6) 
 
  Retained earnings                                                            5,509.1     4,892.9 
                                                                             ----------  ---------- 
 
    TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                                                 3,887.2     4,133.3 
                                                                             ----------  ---------- 
 
                                                                             $11,510.3   $11,266.0 
                                                                             ==========  ========== 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
 
 
                           Common Stock                                      Accumulated 
                              Issued         Additional    Treasury Stock      Other                 Total 
(Millions of dollars     ------------------   Paid-In    ------------------ Comprehensive Retained Stockholders' Comprehensive 
except share amounts)     Shares     Amount   Capital    Shares      Amount  Income(Loss) Earnings   Equity         Income 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
 
                                                                                      
Balance at 
  December 31, 1995 . .  564,560,236  $705.8  $ 66.1    2,959,448   $ (74.9)  $(668.6)  $3,638.9   $3,667.3 
Shares issued for the 
  exercise of stock 
  options and awards. .    4,036,574     5.0    70.6   (6,688,178)    209.3         -          -      284.9 
Shares purchased for 
  treasury. . . . . . .            -       -       -    8,951,924    (348.8)        -          -     (348.8) 
Comprehensive income: 
  Net income. . . . . .            -       -       -            -         -         -    1,403.8    1,403.8     $1,403.8 
  Other comprehensive 
    income (loss): 
      Unrealized 
        translation 
        adjustments . .            -       -       -            -         -     (16.3)         -      (16.3)       (16.3) 
      Minimum pension 
        liability 
        adjustment. . .            -       -       -            -         -      17.5          -       17.5         17.5 
                                                                                                                --------- 
Comprehensive 
  income                           -       -       -            -         -         -          -          -     $1,405.0 
                                                                                                                ========= 
Dividends declared on 
  common shares . . . .            -       -       -            -         -         -     (519.0)    (519.0) 
                         -----------  ------  -------  -----------  --------  --------  ---------  --------- 
Balance at 
  December 31, 1996 . .  568,596,810   710.8   136.7    5,223,194    (214.4)   (667.4)   4,523.7    4,489.4 
Shares issued for the 
  exercise of stock 
  options and awards. .            -       -   (18.2)  (2,434,504)     88.2         -          -       70.0 
Shares purchased for 
  treasury. . . . . . .            -       -       -   18,143,208    (910.6)        -          -     (910.6) 
Shares issued for the 
  acquisition of Tecnol            -       -    (5.2)  (8,681,530)    419.7         -          -      414.5 
Comprehensive income: 
  Net income. . . . . .            -       -       -            -         -         -      901.5      901.5     $  901.5 
  Other comprehensive 
    income (loss): 
      Unrealized 
        translation 
        adjustments . .            -       -       -            -         -    (296.4)         -     (296.4)      (296.4) 
      Minimum pension 
        liability 
        adjustment. . .            -       -       -            -         -      (2.8)         -       (2.8)        (2.8) 
                                                                                                                --------- 
Comprehensive 
  income                           -       -       -            -         -         -          -          -     $  602.3 
                                                                                                                ========= 
Dividends declared on 
  common shares . . . .            -       -       -            -         -         -     (532.3)    (532.3) 
                         -----------  ------  -------  -----------  --------  --------  ---------  --------- 
Balance at 
  December 31, 1997 . .  568,596,810   710.8   113.3   12,250,368    (617.1)   (966.6)   4,892.9    4,133.3 
 
Shares issued for the 
  exercise of stock 
  options and awards.              -       -   (27.0)  (1,643,718)     82.1         -          -       55.1 
Shares purchased for 
  treasury. . . . . .              -       -       -   19,732,752    (919.7)        -          -     (919.7) 
Comprehensive income: 
  Net income. . . . .              -       -       -            -         -         -    1,165.8    1,165.8     $1,165.8 
  Other comprehensive 
    income (loss): 
      Unrealized 
        translation 
        adjustments .              -       -       -            -         -       3.1          -        3.1          3.1 
      Minimum pension 
        liability 
        adjustment. .              -       -       -            -         -       (.8)         -        (.8)         (.8) 
                                                                                                                --------- 
Comprehensive 
  income. . . . . . .              -       -       -            -         -         -          -          -     $1,168.1 
                                                                                                                ========= 
Dividends declared on 
  common shares . . .              -       -       -            -         -         -     (549.6)    (549.6) 
                         -----------  ------  -------  ----------- ---------- --------- ---------  --------- 
Balance at 
  December 31, 1998 .    568,596,810  $710.8  $ 86.3   30,339,402  $(1,454.7)  $(964.3)  $5,509.1  $3,887.2 
                         ===========  ======  =======  =========== ========== ========= =========  ========= 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 



 
 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
                                                                    Year Ended December 31 
                                                                    ---------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                            1998        1997       1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                               
OPERATIONS 
  Net income                                                   $ 1,165.8   $   901.5   $ 1,403.8 
  1998 and 1997 Charges                                            108.8       701.2           - 
  Charge for facility consolidations                               123.2           -           - 
  Write-down of certain intangible and other assets                 95.6           -           - 
  Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes       11.2           -           - 
  Extraordinary gains, net of income taxes                             -       (17.5)          - 
  Depreciation                                                     509.2       490.9       561.0 
  Amortization of goodwill                                          33.3        16.8        13.4 
  Deferred income tax provision                                     53.3        11.2        40.5 
  Net gains on asset sales                                        (125.9)       (8.4)      (75.1) 
  Equity companies' earnings in excess of dividends paid           (15.1)      (62.1)     (100.2) 
  Minority owners' share of subsidiaries' net income                24.3        27.7        50.1 
  Decrease (Increase) in operating working capital                  63.6      (588.4)     (141.6) 
  Pension funding in excess of expense                             (45.9)      (10.2)      (16.8) 
  Other                                                            (10.1)      (56.1)      (60.9) 
                                                               ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
      CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATIONS                                1,991.3     1,406.6     1,674.2 
                                                               ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
INVESTING 
  Capital spending                                                (669.5)     (944.3)     (883.7) 
  Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired                (342.5)      (82.2)     (223.6) 
  Proceeds from dispositions of property and businesses            324.9       779.6       455.4 
  Other                                                            (11.3)      (58.9)       18.9 
                                                               ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
      CASH USED FOR INVESTING                                     (698.4)     (305.8)     (633.0) 
                                                               ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
FINANCING 
  Cash dividends paid                                             (545.5)     (530.6)     (461.5) 
  Net (decrease) increase in short-term debt                        (2.6)      355.3      (348.8) 
  Increases in long-term debt                                      538.3       107.5        75.8 
  Decreases in long-term debt                                     (319.1)     (253.8)     (321.2) 
  Proceeds from exercise of stock options                           38.3        49.2       207.9 
  Acquisitions of common stock for the treasury                   (919.7)     (910.6)     (348.8) 
  Other                                                            (29.4)       89.8        17.0 
                                                               ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
      CASH USED FOR FINANCING                                   (1,239.7)   (1,093.2)   (1,179.6) 
                                                               ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS               $    53.2   $     7.6   $  (138.4) 
                                                               ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 



 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
 
NOTE 1.   ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
     The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and all subsidiaries that are more than 50 percent 
owned.  Investments in nonconsolidated companies that are at least 20 percent 
owned are stated at cost plus equity in undistributed net income.  These 
latter  companies are referred to as equity companies.  All significant 
intercompany transactions and accounts are eliminated in consolidation. 
 
     Certain reclassifications have been made to conform prior year data to 
the current year presentation. 
 
     The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses during the 
reporting period.  Differences from those estimates are recorded in the period 
they become known. 
 
 
Inventories 
 
     Most U.S. inventories are valued at cost on the Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) 
method for U.S. income tax purposes and for financial reporting purposes.  The 
balance of the U.S. inventories and inventories of consolidated operations 
outside the U.S. are generally valued at the lower of cost, generally using 
the First-In, First-Out (FIFO) method, or market. 
 
 
Property and Depreciation 
 
     Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost.  Depreciation is 
calculated on the straight-line or units-of-production method for financial 
reporting purposes and generally on an accelerated method for income tax 
purposes.  When property is sold or retired, the cost of the property and the 
related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any 
gain or loss on the transaction is included in income. 
 
 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 
     Goodwill is amortized on the straight-line method over various periods 
not exceeding 40 years.  The realizability and period of benefit of goodwill 
is evaluated periodically to assess recoverability and, if warranted, 
impairment or adjustment of the period benefited would be recognized. 
Accumulated amortization of goodwill at December 31, 1998 and 1997 was $150.8 
million and $94.1 million, respectively. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Advertising Expense 
 
     Advertising expense is comprised of media, agency and production 
expenses.  Advertising expenses are charged to income during the period 
incurred, except for expenses related to the development of a major commercial 
or media campaign which are charged to income during the period in which the 
advertisement or campaign is first presented by the media.  The Corporation 
uses no direct response advertising.  Advertising expenses charged to income 
totaled $295.3 million in 1998, $306.6 million in 1997 and $284.9 million in 
1996. 
 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
     Sales revenue is recognized at the time of product shipment to 
unaffiliated customers and appropriate provision is made for uncollectible 
accounts. 
 
 
Environmental Expenditures 
 
     Environmental expenditures related to current operations that qualify as 
property, plant and equipment or which substantially increase the economic 
value or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized, and all other 
expenditures are expensed as incurred.  Environmental expenditures that relate 
to an existing condition caused by past operations are expensed as incurred. 
Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial 
efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated.  Generally, 
the timing of these accruals coincides with completion of a feasibility study 
or a commitment to a formal plan of action. 
 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 
     Compensation cost for stock options and awards is measured based on 
intrinsic value under Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") 25, 
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.  (See Note 8 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.) 
 
 
Accounting Standards Changes 
 
     In 1998, the Corporation adopted the following Statements of Financial 
Accounting Standards ("SFAS"): 
 
- -     SFAS 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, which requires the components 
of comprehensive income to be disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
- -     SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information, which requires disclosures of certain information about the 
Corporation's operating segments on a basis consistent with the way in which 
the Corporation is managed and operated. 
 
- -     SFAS 132, Employer's Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement 
Benefits, which revises disclosures about pensions and other postretirement 
benefits and requires presentation of information about such plans in a 
standardized format. 
 
     Adoption of these new standards required that the Corporation reclassify 
prior years' information and make certain new disclosures in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
     In 1998, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee ("AcSEC") of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of 
Position ("SOP") 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-up Activities, which 
requires that such costs be expensed as incurred.  The Corporation's practice 
had been to record the costs of bringing significant new or expanded 
facilities into operation as deferred charges and to amortize them over 
periods of not more than five years.  The Corporation adopted 
SOP 98-5 effective January 1, 1998, and restated 1998 first quarter results to 
record a pretax charge of $17.8 million, $11.2 million after taxes, or $.02 
per share, as the cumulative effect of this accounting change.  This change 
had no material effect on total costs and expenses for 1998. 
 
 
New Pronouncements 
 
     In 1998, SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities, was issued.  This standard, which establishes new accounting and 
reporting standards for derivative financial instruments, must be adopted no 
later than 2000.  The Corporation is currently analyzing the effect of this 
standard and does not expect it to have a material effect on the Corporation's 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
     In 1998, AcSEC issued SOP 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer 
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.  This statement, which 
becomes effective in 1999, requires that certain costs of developing or 
obtaining software for internal use be capitalized.  The Corporation presently 
capitalizes most of the required costs, and consequently does not expect the 
statement to have a material effect on the Corporation's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 



 
 



 
NOTE 2.  BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND OTHER PROGRAMS 
 
     A number of actions have been taken in recent years to address the 
Corporation's ongoing business competitiveness by improving its operating 
efficiency and cost structure. 
 
Facility Consolidations 
 
- -     In the fourth quarter of 1998, the Corporation recorded a charge for 
facility consolidations of $123.2 million to, among other things, further 
align tissue manufacturing capacity with demand in Europe, to close a diaper 
manufacturing facility in Canada, shut down and dispose of a tissue machine 
in Thailand and write down certain excess feminine care production equipment 
in North America.  Included in the charge was $79.6 million for the write-down 
of tissue manufacturing assets in Europe and the 1999 closure of a diaper 
facility in Canada.  Because the diaper facility will be closed rather than 
sold, the entire book value of the facility was written off.  Employee 
severance costs of $12.3 million also were recorded for approximately 450 
employees who were notified by December 31, 1998 of the Corporation's plans 
to terminate their employment.  Asset write-downs to estimated fair value 
and inventory losses associated with the facility closing and capacity 
alignment and the tissue machine shut-down totaling $31.3 million also were 
recorded.  These costs, which were charged to cost of products sold, reduced 
1998 operating profit $123.2 million, and net income $86.1 million, or $.16 
per share.  Approximately 57 percent of the pretax charge relates to the 
Tissue segment and 43 percent relates to the Personal Care segment.  The 
employee severance costs and other cash costs of closures and consolidations 
of $11.8 million are included in other accrued liabilities at December 31, 
1998. 
 
Write-down of Certain Intangible and Other Assets 
 
- -     During the third quarter of 1998, the Corporation completed a periodic 
review of its intangible assets, such as trademarks and goodwill, to determine 
if they were impaired.  Impairment is deemed to exist whenever the 
undiscounted estimated future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of 
such intangible assets.  Impairment losses are measured by the difference 
between the asset carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows.  As a result of the review, the carrying amounts of 
trademarks and unamortized goodwill of certain European businesses were 
determined to be impaired and were written down.  These write-downs, which 
were charged to general expense, reduced 1998 operating profit $70.2 million 
and net income $57.1 million, or $.10 per share. 
 
- -     During the third quarter of 1998, the Corporation completed a technology 
review of personal computers ("PCs") which demonstrated that (i) PCs have 
reduced economic lives as a consequence of rapid technological improvements, 
(ii) more sophisticated software applications require more powerful PCs, and 
(iii) most of the Corporation's PCs acquired prior to 1997 were 
technologically obsolete.  Consequently, the Corporation concluded that its 
previous practice of capitalizing the costs of PCs and depreciating them over 
five years was no longer appropriate.  Accordingly, the Corporation began 
depreciating the cost of all new PCs acquired after September 30, 1998 over 
two years.  In addition, in recognition of the change in estimated useful 
lives of its existing PC assets, the remaining book value of all PCs acquired 
prior to 1997 was written down.  This change in estimate, along with $8.8 
million of charges for write-downs of other assets and a loss on a pulp 
contract, reduced 1998 operating profit $25.4 million and net income $16.5 
million, or $.03 per share.  Of the $25.4 million, $11.3 million was charged 
to cost of products sold and $14.1 million was charged to general expense. 
 
- -     Approximately 15 percent of the write-down of certain intangible and 
other assets described above relates to the Tissue segment, 84 percent relates 
to the Personal Care segment and 1 percent relates to the Health Care and 
Other segment. 
 
Announced Plan 
 
     In the fourth quarter of 1997, the Corporation announced a plan to 
restructure its worldwide operations ("Announced Plan"), the total pretax cost 
of which was estimated at $810.0 million.  In conjunction with the Announced 
Plan, the Corporation recorded a pretax charge of $701.2 million in 1997 
("1997 Charge") and recorded the remaining $108.8 million in 1998 ("1998 
Charge") at the time these costs became accruable under appropriate accounting 
principles. 
 
     The Announced Plan includes: 
 
- -     The sale, closure or downsizing of 18 manufacturing facilities 
worldwide.  These actions will result in the consolidation of the 
Corporation's manufacturing operations into fewer, larger and more efficient 
facilities.  They will eliminate excess production capacity, including more 
than 200,000 metric tons of high-cost tissue manufacturing capacity in North 
America and Europe. 
 
- -     A workforce reduction of approximately 5,000 employees. 
 
- -     The write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets not 
needed in the restructured manufacturing operations; the elimination of excess 
manufacturing capacity; and the write-down of certain inventories in 
restructured operations and other assets. 
 
- -     The elimination of the Corporation's facilities and capacity which 
became excessive as a result of the combination of the Corporation's health 



care operations with those of Tecnol Medical Products, Inc. ("Tecnol"). 
 
- -     The write-down of certain assets that became obsolete in 1997 due to 
enacted U.S. environmental air and water emission rules that require reduced 
emission levels of certain chemical compounds from the Corporation's pulp 
production operations. 
 
- -     Contract terminations, cash costs for mill closures and other 
obligations. 
 
     The following summarizes the major actions relating to facility disposals 
and workforce reductions that were accomplished through December 31, 1998. 
 
- -     Of the 18 manufacturing facilities, 12 have been either sold, closed or 
downsized through December 31, 1998.  Five facilities will be disposed of by 
the third quarter of 1999, the largest of which is a tissue manufacturing 
facility in Gennep, Netherlands, which will be closed by the end of the second 
quarter of 1999.  Plans to close a tissue manufacturing facility in North 
America were canceled as discussed in the "Adjustments and Reclassifications" 
section of this footnote. 
 
     In addition to the original 18 facilities, other manufacturing facilities 
were identified for closure or consolidation with other operations under the 
program set forth in the Announced Plan.  Two facilities in Nogales, Mexico 
were consolidated with other operations in 1998; a facility in China will be 
closed in the second quarter of 1999; and a yet to be announced tissue 
manufacturing facility will be closed in 2000.  This latter closure will 
increase the elimination of high-cost production capacity to 230,000 annual 
metric tons. 
 



 
 
 
- -     A total workforce reduction of 5,000 employees was projected under the 
Announced Plan.  Through December 31, 1998, a total workforce reduction of 
3,700 has been realized.  Approximately 1,100 additional employees will be 
terminated in 1999.  The actual cost of the workforce reduction approximates 
the cost that was estimated in the Announced Plan. 
 
     The major categories of the 1998 and 1997 Charges and their subsequent 
utilization are summarized below: 
 
 
 
 
                                     Amounts Charged                  Amounts     Amounts to 
                                      to Earnings                     Utilized   be Utilized 
                                    ----------------   Reallocations  Through      Beyond 
(Millions of dollars)               in 1998  in 1997     in 1998       1998         1998 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                    
Costs of workforce reduction . . .  $ 64.4  $ 57.3     $ (2.5)      $(119.2)       $    - 
 
Losses on facility disposals . . .       -   165.0        9.3        (162.5)         11.8 
 
Write-downs of property, plant and 
  equipment and other assets . . .    13.5   333.4      (17.6)       (214.9)        114.4 
 
Asset impairments. . . . . . . . .     4.5    82.6      (15.3)        (71.8)            - 
 
Contract terminations, cash 
  costs for mill closures and 
  other obligations. . . . . . . .    26.4    62.9       26.1         (64.5)         50.9 
                                    ------  ------     -------      --------       ------ 
 
                                    $108.8  $701.2     $    -       $(632.9)       $177.1 
                                    ======  ======     =======      ========       ====== 
 
 
 
 
1998 Charge 
 
     The 1998 Charge reduced operating profit, net income and net income per 
share by $108.8 million, $86.9 million and $.16, respectively.  Of the 1998 
Charge, $7.3 million relates to the write-down of certain assets and 
inventories and has been charged to cost of products sold, and $101.5 million 
has been recorded as restructuring and other unusual charges in the 
Consolidated Income Statement.  Approximately 76 percent of the 1998 Charge 
relates to the Tissue segment, 22 percent relates to the Personal Care segment 
and 2 percent relates to the Health Care and Other segment.  Approximately 
25 percent of the 1998 Charge relates to North American operations and 72 
percent relates to European operations. 
 
     The principal costs included in the 1998 Charge are as follows: 
 
- -     The costs of workforce reduction are primarily composed of severance 
payments and other employee-related costs for 1,800 employees at facilities 
which have been or are to be sold or closed and other operations that are 
being downsized.  The employees involved were notified by 
December 31, 1998 of the Corporation's plans to terminate their employment, 
along with their termination arrangements. 
 
- -     Write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets represents 
the net book value of older, less efficient machinery and equipment not needed 
in the restructured manufacturing operations and the elimination of excess 
manufacturing capacity. 
 
- -     Contract terminations, cash costs for mill closures and other 
obligations primarily represent the costs of certain lease obligations. 
 
 
 
1997 Charge 
 
     The 1997 Charge reduced operating profit, net income and net income per 
share by $701.2 million, $503.1 million and $.91, respectively.  Of the 1997 
Charge, $220.1 million related to the write-down of certain assets and 
inventories and was charged to cost of products sold, and $481.1 million was 
recorded as restructuring and other unusual charges in the Consolidated Income 
Statement.  Approximately 71 percent of the 1997 Charge related to the Tissue 
segment, 24 percent related to the Personal Care segment and 3 percent related 
to the Health Care and Other segment.  Approximately 59 percent of the 1997 
Charge related to North American operations and 27 percent related to 
European operations. 
 
     The principal costs included in the 1997 Charge were as follows: 
 
- -     The costs of workforce reduction were primarily composed of severance 
payments and other employee-related costs for 1,900 employees at facilities 
which had been or were to be sold or closed and other operations that were 
being downsized.  The employees involved were notified by December 31, 1997 of 
the Corporation's plans to terminate their employment, along with their 



termination arrangements. 
 
- -     Losses on facility disposals included the write-down to estimated net 
realizable value of facilities which had been or were to be disposed of and 
related costs of disposition.  Three facilities represent nearly all of the 
charge.  Because these facilities were planned to be closed, rather than sold, 
the entire book value of each facility was written off.  A tissue 
manufacturing facility in Orleans, France was originally planned to be closed 
but was sold in 1998 as discussed in the "Adjustments and Reclassifications" 
section below.  A tissue manufacturing facility in Winslow, Maine was closed 
in April 1998.  Part of a tissue manufacturing and converting facility in 
Marinette, Wisconsin was closed in December 1997. 
 
- -     Write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets represented 
the net book value of older, less efficient machinery and equipment not needed 
in the restructured manufacturing operations; the elimination of excess 
manufacturing capacity; the write-down of the net book value of assets that 
became obsolete due to enacted U.S. environmental air and water emission 
rules; and the elimination of the Corporation's existing facilities and 
capacity which became excessive as a result of the Tecnol acquisition. 
 
- -     Asset impairments represented charges for manufacturing facilities where 
the future cash flows from operations and the sale or closure were 
estimated to be insufficient to cover the carrying amounts of such facilities. 
Each facility was written down to its estimated fair value based on the 
Corporation's assessment of expected future cash flows from operations 
and disposal, discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved. 
 
     The 1997 Charge was based on management's Announced Plan to restructure 
the Corporation's worldwide operations and information available at the time 
the decision was made to undertake the required actions.  As discussed below, 
based on subsequent events, certain aspects of the actions contemplated in the 
1997 Charge were revised.  In addition, the costs of other actions under the 
Announced Plan were recorded in 1998.  Although certain specific actions 
originally included in the Announced Plan have been modified, the overall 
Announced Plan is expected  to be accomplished at a total cost 
approximating the original estimate of $810.0 million. 
 
 
 
Adjustments and Reclassifications 
 
     The "Reallocations in 1998" column in the preceding summary reflects the 
following adjustments and reclassifications: 
 
- -     Included in the 1997 Charge were estimated losses for the planned 
closure of a tissue manufacturing facility at Orleans, France and other 
related costs.  During 1998, the closure plans were abandoned and the facility 
was sold.  As a result, the Corporation reallocated $17.5 million of the 
reserves for facility disposals to requirements under other qualifying 
programs identified in the Announced Plan. 
 
- -     Management canceled its plans to close a tissue facility in North 
America for which it had established an impairment reserve of $15.3 million as 
part of the 1997 Charge.  As a result of the change in plans, which was caused 
by the completion of an internal analysis that demonstrated the viability of a 
business that previously was not profitable, and by structural changes in 
operations, the Corporation reallocated the $15.3 million of the reserve for 
asset impairments to requirements under other qualifying programs identified 
in the Announced Plan. 
 
- -     Because of the decision to close the Canadian diaper facility which is 
part of the $123.2 million fourth quarter charge for facility consolidations, 
approximately $16.6 million of reserves for the write-down of excess diaper 
assets was determined to be unnecessary and these diaper assets were not 
removed from service.  The fourth quarter 1998 facility consolidations charge 
includes a write-off of the Canadian diaper facility to be closed in 1999, 
including the related costs of closure.  The decision to close this facility 
was a result of the substantial increase in the Corporation's diaper 
productivity in North America in the last three years.  As a result of this 
productivity increase and the effects of expected future productivity gains, 
manufacturing capacity was projected to exceed demand.  This closure will 
balance capacity with demand.  Because the facility is expected to be closed 
rather than sold, the entire book value of the facility was written off.  As a 
result of the cancellation of the diaper asset write-downs provided for in the 
1997 Charge, the Corporation reallocated the $16.6 million reserve for 
write-downs to requirements under other qualifying programs identified in the 
Announced Plan. 
 
- -     Included in the 1997 Charge was approximately $29.7 million for the 
write-down and removal of certain assets at the Corporation's pulp production 
operation in Mobile, Alabama.  In 1997, the U.S. Government enacted new 
environmental air and water emission rules that required reduced emission 
levels of certain chemical compounds from the Corporation's pulp production 
facilities.  These rules would have required the Corporation to spend more 
than $250 million to achieve the new emission levels at its Mobile pulp mill. 
S.D. Warren Company, a producer of printing and publishing papers, currently 
purchases approximately one-third of the pulp mill's output.  On May 4, 1998, 
S.D. Warren and the Corporation announced an agreement to terminate their pulp 
supply contract in September 1999.  As a result of the cancellation of the 
pulp supply contract and the cost of implementing the new emission rules, on 
May 5, 1998, the Corporation announced it would shut down its Mobile pulp mill 
on September 1, 1999, sell the associated woodlands and related operations 
("Southeast Timberlands") and retain its pulp facility in New Glasgow, Nova 
Scotia.  On January 5, 1999, the Corporation announced that it had agreed to 
sell the Southeast Timberlands to an affiliate of a New York-based investment 



firm.  As a result of these changes in plans, $10.6 million of the reserve for 
write-downs was reallocated to requirements under other qualifying programs 
identified in the Announced Plan. 
 
 



 
 
 
- -     In 1998, management committed to a plan to close a tissue manufacturing 
facility in order to continue to align capacity with demand.  The facility, 
the name of which has not yet been announced publicly, will be closed by the 
end of 2000.  Since this facility will be disposed of, its carrying amount was 
reduced to zero by reallocation of $26.8 million to the reserve for losses on 
facility disposals. 
 
- -     Also in 1998, management reallocated reserves to cover other qualifying 
programs that had either been underestimated in 1997 or were extensions of 
such programs.  None of these reallocations was individually material.  These 
other reallocations changed the individual categories of the reserve as 
follows: 
 
- -     Costs of workforce reduction decreased $2.5 million. 
 
- -     Write-down of property, plant and equipment and other assets increased 
$9.6 million. 
 
- -     Contract terminations, cash costs for mill closures and other 
obligations increased $26.1 million. 
 
     During 1998, certain programs were completed at a total cost of $2.5 
million less than originally estimated in 1997, and such amount was returned 
to earnings in the Consolidated Income Statement.  Of this amount, $2.0 
million was reflected in the operating profit of the Health Care and Other 
segment and $.5 million was unallocated. 
 
     At December 31, 1998, there are no reserves remaining to be utilized that 
are not specifically identified with a qualifying program under the Announced 
Plan. 
 
Other Information 
 
     Set forth below is a summary of the types and amounts of charges that 
were recognized as accrued liabilities for the Announced Plan together with 
cash payments made against such accruals for the two years ending December 31, 
1998. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                              Charges(a)                Charges(a) 
                                 in              Balance    in                     Balance 
(Millions of dollars)           1997    Payments 12/31/97  1998 Payments Other(b) 12/31/98 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                             
Workforce severance . . . . .  $ 57.6  $ (5.1)  $ 52.5  $43.1  $(47.6)  $    -   $ 48.0 
Facility closure costs. . . .    12.6    (3.3)     9.3      -    (4.8)       -      4.5 
Asset removal costs . . . . .    24.0     (.1)    23.9     .8   (13.2)       -     11.5 
Environmental costs and lease 
  and contract terminations .    37.9     (.3)    37.6   22.9   (22.0)     5.0     43.5 
Other costs . . . . . . . . .    71.2    (2.7)    68.5   23.2    (4.1)   (50.9)    36.7 
                               ------  -------  ------  -----  -------  -------  ------ 
 
                               $203.3  $(11.5)  $191.8  $90.0  $(91.7)  $(45.9)  $144.2 
                               ======  =======  ======  =====  =======  =======  ====== 
 
 
 
(a)     The charges in 1997 and 1998 were included in the restructuring and other 
unusual charges in the Consolidated Income Statement. 
 
(b)     Includes reclassification of $5.0 million from other accrued liabilities, and 
reclassification of $48.4 million from accrued liabilities to other assets for noncash 
items, and $2.5 million that was returned to earnings as discussed above. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
     Pursuant to the Corporation's accounting policies for business 
improvement programs, certain amounts are considered to be utilized prior to 
their being paid in cash.  For example, charges for severance payments are 
considered to be utilized when the liability for such payments becomes fixed 
and identified with individual employees.  Such amounts remain in accrued 
liabilities until paid in cash in accordance with the severance payment 
schedules.  Likewise, lease termination charges and other cash obligations are 
considered to be utilized when they become fixed obligations, but such 
liabilities remain in accrued liabilities until paid in accordance with the 
contractual arrangements.  Included in accrued liabilities for the Announced 
Plan are cash payment obligations for severance payments, lease payments and 
other cash obligations, totaling $81.5 million which, although utilized, 
remain to be paid in accordance with the individual arrangements.  At December 
31, 1998, the Announced Plan had $177.1 million remaining to be utilized, 
of which $114.4 million represents noncash items for the write-down of 
property, plant and equipment and other assets. 
 
     During 1997 and 1998, in accordance with SFAS 121, Accounting for the 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, 
depreciation expense was suspended on facilities included in the Announced 
Plan that were held for disposal.  Depreciation for these facilities would 
have been $7.5 million in 1998 and $3.3 million in 1997. 
 
     In addition, during 1997 and 1998, in accordance with SFAS 121, 
depreciation was suspended on certain pulp producing facilities that were held 
for disposal or disposed of.  Depreciation for these facilities would have 
been $12.6 million in 1998 and $47.3 million in 1997.  The reduction in 
suspended depreciation in 1998 versus 1997 was a result of the sale of a 
noncore pulp and newsprint facility located in Coosa Pines, Alabama ("Coosa") 
in March 1997 and the reclassification of the New Glasgow, Nova Scotia and the 
Terrace Bay, Ontario pulp manufacturing facilities from assets held for sale 
to property during 1998. 
 
     Determination of the individual results of operations of the above 
facilities during the depreciation suspension period is not meaningful because 
of the integration of the operations of these facilities into the overall 
consolidated operating results. 
 
1995 Restructuring 
 
     In connection with the Corporation's merger with Scott Paper Company 
("Scott"), the Corporation recorded a $1,440.0 million pretax charge in 1995 
for restructuring the combined organizations and for other unusual items 
related to the merger ("1995 Charge").  The following presents the total 1995 
Charge and the utilization of the charge for the three years ending December 
31, 1998. 
 
          (Millions of dollars)                               Amount 
          ------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
          1995 Charge                                         $1,440.0 
          Amount utilized in 1996                             (1,016.9) 
          Amount utilized in 1997                               (351.7) 
          Amount utilized in 1998                                (52.6) 
                                                            ----------- 
 
          Amount not utilized at December 31, 1998          $     18.8 
                                                             ========== 
 
     During 1996, 1997 and 1998, as part of management's process to monitor 
completion of the programs related to the 1995 Charge, certain amounts were 
identified as being in excess of the current estimate to complete the overall 
plan for the merger and restructuring.  The differences between the then 
current estimate and the remaining accrual balance for the plan were returned 
to earnings as credits to cost of products sold in the Consolidated Income 
Statement as follows:  1996, $65.0 million; 1997, $57.7 million; and 1998, 
$10.3 million.  These amounts, which were not material to consolidated 
operating profit in any of the three years, were included in the operating 
profit of the Tissue segment. 
 
 
     The Corporation is in the process of completing a final review of all of 
the approximately 350 programs that comprised the 1995 Charge to ensure that 
each of the programs has been completed. At the conclusion of this review, 
the $18.8 million not utilized at December 31, 1998 will be reallocated to 
requirements under qualifying programs, if appropriate, or will be returned 
to earnings in the first quarter of 1999. 
 
     Set forth below is a summary of the types and amounts of charges that 
were recognized as accrued liabilities for the 1995 Charge together with cash 
payments made against such accruals for the two years ending December 31, 
1998. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                 Balance                       Balance                       Balance 
 (Millions of dollars)          12/31/96   Payments  Other(a) 12/31/97  Payments Other(a)   12/31/98 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 



                                                                        
Workforce severance . . . . . . .  $ 88.7  $ (59.8)  $(15.1)  $13.8    $ (4.6)   $(7.9)      $ 1.3 
Asset removal costs . . . . . . .    22.2    (13.7)       -     8.5      (8.5)       -           - 
Environmental costs and lease and 
  contract terminations . . . . .    87.0    (31.3)   (24.3)   31.4      (9.9)    (6.2)       15.3 
Other costs . . . . . . . . . . .   141.8    (77.2)   (41.8)   22.8     (12.0)     8.2        19.0 
                                   ------  --------  -------  -----    -------   ------      ----- 
 
                                   $339.7  $(182.0)  $(81.2)  $76.5    $(35.0)   $(5.9)      $35.6 
                                   ======  ========  =======  =====    =======   ======      ===== 
 
 
 
(a)     Reclassifications from accrued liabilities to other assets, property, plant and 
equipment and inventory for noncash items, and the credits included in cost of products 
sold as discussed above. 
 
 
 
Accounting Policies for Business Improvement Programs 
 
     The Corporation considers amounts included in the business improvement 
programs to be utilized when the following specific criteria are met. 
Workforce related reserves are considered utilized when contractual 
termination liabilities are fixed.  The reserves for facility disposals are 
considered utilized when a formal agreement has been reached to sell such 
facilities.  Reserves for excess capacity, restructured facilities and other 
assets are considered utilized on the occurrence of one of the following 
events: management (i) closes such facilities; (ii) sells such facilities; or 
(iii) writes down such assets because there are no plans for any future 
recovery of carrying amounts.  Costs for contract settlements and lease 
terminations are considered utilized at the time settlements are negotiated 
and agreed upon and the amounts of required payments are fixed. 
 
     Provisions for asset impairments are based on discounted cash flow 
projections in accordance with SFAS 121, and such assets are written down to 
their estimated fair values. 
 
     The operating costs of facilities to be sold or closed are charged to 
operating profit during the period such facilities remain in use.  Salaries, 
wages and benefits of employees at such locations are charged to operations 
during the time such employees are actively employed. 
 



 
 
NOTE 3.   INCOME TAXES 
 
 
     An analysis of the provision for income taxes follows: 
 
 
                                                                 Year Ended December 31 
                                                                 ---------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                           1998      1997      1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                            
Current income taxes: 
  United States                                                  $402.0   $ 423.9   $474.4 
  State                                                            26.8      96.7     67.6 
  Other countries                                                  79.8     104.6    118.3 
                                                                 -------  --------  ------- 
    Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   508.6     625.2    660.3 
                                                                 -------  --------  ------- 
 
Deferred income taxes: 
  United States                                                    91.6     (82.3)    38.8 
  State                                                            13.7     (56.5)   (10.1) 
  Other countries                                                 (58.6)    (14.9)    11.8 
                                                                 -------  --------  ------- 
    Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    46.7    (153.7)    40.5 
                                                                 -------  --------  ------- 
 
Total provision for income taxes                                  555.3     471.5    700.8 
 
Less income taxes related to: 
 
  Extraordinary gains . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       -      38.4        - 
 
  Cumulative effect of accounting change. . . . . . . . . . . .    (6.6)        -        - 
                                                                 -------  --------  ------- 
 
Total provision excluding income taxes related to extraordinary 
  gains and cumulative effect of accounting change               $561.9   $ 433.1   $700.8 
                                                                 =======  ========  ======= 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     Income before income taxes is classified in the Consolidated Income 
     Statement as follows: 
 
 
                                                                    Year Ended December 31 
                                                                    ---------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                              1998      1997       1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
                                                                               
Income Before Extraordinary Gains and Cumulative Effect of 
  Accounting Change: 
    United States. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $      1,612.3   $1,132.6  $1,624.9 
    Other countries. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .            13.8       54.9     377.4 
                                                            ---------------  --------  -------- 
                                                            $      1,626.1   $1,187.5  $2,002.3 
                                                            ===============  ========  ======== 
Extraordinary Gains: 
  United States                                             $            -   $   55.9  $      - 
                                                            ===============  ========  ======== 
 
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change: 
  United States                                             $        (17.2)  $      -  $      - 
  Other countries                                                      (.6)         -         - 
                                                            ---------------  --------  -------- 
                                                            $        (17.8)  $      -  $      - 
                                                            ===============  ========  ======== 
 
 
 
 
 



 
- ------ 
 
 
 
     Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are composed of the following: 
 
                                                                          December 31 
                                                                          ----------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                                   1998      1997 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                           
Current deferred income tax assets attributable to: 
 
  Advertising and promotion accruals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  29.7   $  37.7 
  Pension, postretirement and other employee benefits. . . . . . . .     92.0      80.2 
  Other accrued expenses, including those related to the 1998, 
    1997 and 1995 Charges. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    197.3     192.0 
  Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     48.0      40.7 
  Valuation allowances . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (10.6)     (9.0) 
                                                                      --------  -------- 
 
Net current deferred income tax asset                                 $ 356.4   $ 341.6 
                                                                      ========  ======== 
 
Noncurrent deferred income tax assets (liabilities) attributable to: 
 
  Accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $(859.3)  $(788.7) 
  Income tax loss carryforwards. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    337.8     280.4 
    Other postretirement benefits. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    280.2     287.3 
  Installment sales. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   (137.9)   (137.9) 
  Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (2.7)     (2.8) 
  Valuation allowances . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   (284.4)   (219.1) 
                                                                      --------  -------- 
 
  Net noncurrent deferred income tax liability . . . . . . . . . . .  $(666.3)  $(580.8) 
                                                                      ========  ======== 
 
 
 
     Valuation allowances for deferred income tax assets increased by $66.9 
million in 1998 and $21.5 million in 1997.  Valuation allowances at the end of 
1998 relate to the potentially unusable portion of income tax loss 
carryforwards of $909.7 million in jurisdictions outside the United States. 
If not utilized against taxable income, $310.8 million of the loss 
carryforwards will expire from 1999 through 2008.  The remaining $598.9 
million has no expiration date. 
 
     Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient 
taxable income prior to expiration of the loss carryforwards.  Although 
realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not 
that all of the deferred tax assets, net of applicable valuation allowances, 
will be realized.  The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable 
could be reduced or increased if estimates of future taxable income during the 
carryforward period are reduced or increased. 
 
 



 
 
 
     Presented below is a reconciliation of the income tax provision computed 
at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the provision for income taxes 
excluding income taxes applicable to extraordinary gains and cumulative effect 
of an accounting change. 
 
 
 
 
                                           1998                 1997               1996 
                                    ---------------------  ------------------  --------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                AMOUNT    PERCENT     Amount   Percent     Amount   Percent 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
                                                                      
Income before income taxes: 
  As reported. . . . . . . . . . . .  $1,626.1              $1,187.5          $2,002.3 
  Add back the 1998 and 1997 
    Charges. . . . . . . . . . . . .     108.8                 701.2                 - 
                                      ---------            ---------         --------- 
      Income before income taxes 
        excluding the 1998 and 1997 
        Charges. . . . . . . . . . .  $1,734.9              $1,888.7          $2,002.3 
                                      =========            =========         ========= 
 
Tax at U.S. statutory rate(a). . . .  $  607.2       35.0%  $  661.0   35.0%    $700.8   35.0% 
State income taxes, net of federal 
  tax benefit. . . . . . . . . . . .      27.8        1.6       37.4    2.0       37.3    1.9 
Operating losses for which no tax 
  benefit was recognized, net of 
  operating losses realized. . . . .      32.0        1.8       22.0    1.2       10.0     .5 
Other - net. . . . . . . . . . . . .     (83.6)      (4.8)     (97.1)  (5.2)     (47.3)  (2.4) 
                                      ---------  ---------  ---------  -----    -------  ----- 
 
                                         583.4       33.6%     623.3   33.0%     700.8   35.0% 
                                                 =========             =====             ===== 
Tax benefit of the 1998 and 1997 
  Charges(b) . . . . . . . . . . . .     (21.5)      19.8%    (190.2)  27.1%         - 
                                      ---------  =========  ---------  =====    ------- 
 
Provision for income taxes . . . . .  $  561.9       34.6%  $  433.1   36.5%    $700.8   35.0% 
                                      =========  =========  =========  =====    =======  ===== 
 
 
(a)     Tax at U.S. statutory rate is based on income before income taxes excluding the 1998 
Charge of  $108.8 million and the 1997 Charge of $701.2 million.  The tax benefits of 
such items are shown elsewhere in the table. 
 
(b)     The effective rates for the tax benefits attributable to the 1998 and 1997 Charges 
are lower than the U.S. statutory rate of 35.0 percent primarily because no tax benefits 
were provided for certain costs related to operations in countries in which the Corporation 
has income tax loss carryforwards for which valuation allowances have been provided. 
 
 
 
     At December 31, 1998, income taxes have not been provided on 
approximately $1.6 billion of unremitted earnings of subsidiaries operating 
outside the U.S.  These earnings, which are considered to be invested 
indefinitely, would become subject to income tax if they were remitted as 
dividends, were lent to the Corporation or a U.S. affiliate, or if the 
Corporation were to sell its stock in the subsidiaries.  Determination of the 
amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability on these unremitted 
earnings is not practicable because of the complexities associated with its 
hypothetical calculation.    Withholding taxes of approximately $130 million 
would be payable upon remittance of all previously unremitted earnings at 
December 31, 1998. 
 



 
 
NOTE 4.  POSTRETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS 
 
     The Corporation and its subsidiaries in North America and the United 
Kingdom have defined benefit and/or defined contribution retirement plans 
covering substantially all regular employees.  Certain other subsidiaries have 
defined benefit pension plans or, in certain countries, termination pay plans 
covering substantially all regular employees.  For plans in North America and 
the United Kingdom, the funding policy is to contribute assets that, at a 
minimum, fully fund the accumulated benefit obligation, subject to regulatory 
and tax deductibility limits.  The policy for the remaining defined benefit 
plans, which are composed primarily of pension or termination pay plans 
outside North America and nonqualified U.S. plans providing pension benefits 
in excess of limitations imposed by the U.S. income tax code, is to fund them 
based on legal requirements, tax considerations, customary business practices 
in such countries and investment opportunities. 
 
     Substantially all retired employees of the Corporation and its North 
American subsidiaries and certain international employees are covered by 
health care and life insurance benefit plans.  Benefits are based on years of 
service and age at retirement.  The plans are principally noncontributory for 
employees who retired before 1993, and are contributory for most employees who 
retire in 1993 or after.  Certain U.S. plans limit the Corporation's cost of 
future annual per capita retiree medical benefits to no more than 
200 percent of the 1992 annual per capita cost.  Certain other U.S. plans 
limit the Corporation's future cost for retiree medical benefits to a defined 
annual per capita medical cost. 
 
     Summarized financial information about postretirement plans, excluding 
defined contribution retirement plans, is presented below. 
 



 
 
 
 
 
                                                      Pension Benefits           Other Benefits 
                                                     -------------------     -------------------- 
                                                             Year Ended December 31 
                                                       -------------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                  1998     1997         1998        1997 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                           
CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION 
  Benefit obligation at beginning of year. . . . . .  $3,623.2   $3,394.7   $ 638.0   $ 631.8 
  Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      69.2       72.6      11.8      10.7 
  Interest cost. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     247.1      246.7      44.2      44.9 
  Participants' contributions. . . . . . . . . . . .       8.3        7.6       4.0       4.8 
  Amendments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       9.5       20.4         -         - 
  Actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     171.8      275.9      27.5      12.2 
  Acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       1.5         .8         -         - 
  Divestments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         -      (96.6)        -      (1.6) 
  Curtailments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (8.4)       (.1)     (2.6)     (7.5) 
  Special termination benefits . . . . . . . . . . .       5.0        1.7         -         - 
  Currency exchange rate effects . . . . . . . . . .      (2.3)     (59.2)     (2.0)     (1.2) 
  Benefit payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (257.4)    (241.3)    (62.3)    (56.1) 
                                                      ---------  ---------  --------  -------- 
 
  Benefit obligation at end of year. . . . . . . . .   3,867.5    3,623.2     658.6     638.0 
                                                      ---------  ---------  --------  -------- 
 
CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS 
  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . .   3,619.9    3,343.2         -         - 
  Actual return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . .     525.7      502.4         -         - 
  Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      24.5       30.7      58.3      51.3 
  Participants' contributions. . . . . . . . . . . .       8.3        7.6       4.0       4.8 
  Currency exchange rate effects . . . . . . . . . .     (11.3)     (31.6)        -         - 
  Benefit payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (239.9)    (232.4)    (62.3)    (56.1) 
                                                      ---------  ---------  --------  -------- 
 
  Fair value of plan assets at end of year . . . . .   3,927.2    3,619.9         -         - 
                                                      ---------  ---------  --------  -------- 
 
FUNDED STATUS 
  Funded status at end of year . . . . . . . . . . .      59.7       (3.3)   (658.6)   (638.0) 
  Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) . . . . . .       9.5       53.1     (68.0)    (98.1) 
  Unrecognized transition amount . . . . . . . . . .     (15.3)     (16.8)        -         - 
  Unrecognized prior service cost. . . . . . . . . .      64.2       52.7     (17.7)    (19.8) 
                                                      ---------  ---------  --------  -------- 
 
  Net amount recognized. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  118.1   $   85.7   $(744.3)  $(755.9) 
                                                      =========  =========  ========  ======== 
 
AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN THE BALANCE SHEET CONSIST OF: 
  Prepaid benefit cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  228.8   $  178.9   $     -   $     - 
  Accrued benefit cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (139.6)    (122.9)   (744.3)   (755.9) 
  Intangible asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       6.1        8.3         -         - 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . .      22.8       21.4         -         - 
                                                      ---------  ---------  --------  -------- 
 
  Net amount recognized. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  118.1   $   85.7   $(744.3)  $(755.9) 
                                                      =========  =========  ========  ======== 
 
 
 
     The above pension benefit information has been presented on an aggregated 
basis whereby benefit obligation and plan asset information for plans in which 
plan assets exceed accumulated benefit obligations have been combined with 
plans where the accumulated benefit obligations exceed plan assets.  Summary 
disaggregated information about these plans follows: 
 



 
 
 
 
 
                                       Assets Exceed       ABO Exceed 
                                            ABO              Assets 
                                     ---------------     --------------- 
                                                December 31 
                                     --------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                  1998         1997     1998     1997 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                       
Projected benefit obligation . . . .  $3,757.1  $3,507.0  $110.4  $116.2 
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO)   3,417.3   3,176.9   100.1    94.9 
Fair value of plan assets. . . . . .   3,926.2   3,613.9     1.0     6.0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                          Pension Benefits         Other Benefits 
                                         ------------------     ------------------ 
                                                      December 31 
                                            ---------------------------------- 
                                            1998    1997          1998    1997 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                              
WEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS 
  Discount rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6.6%  7.1%              6.7%  7.0% 
    Expected return on plan assets . . . .  9.3%  9.5%                -     - 
  Rate of compensation increase             3.9%  4.3%                -     - 
    Initial health care cost trend rate(a)    -     -               7.8%  8.6% 
 
 
(a)     Assumed to decrease gradually to 6% in 2003 and remain at that level 
for certain plans and to zero by 2005 and thereafter for others. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                          Pension Benefits              Other Benefits 
                                    --------------------------     --------------------- 
                                                    Year Ended December 31 
                                    ---------------------------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                   1998      1997       1996     1998      1997     1996 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                    
COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC 
BENEFIT COST 
  Service cost. . . . . . . . . . . .  $  69.2   $  72.6   $  86.0   $11.8   $10.7   $12.0 
  Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . .    247.1     246.7     243.9    44.2    44.9    48.0 
  Expected return on plan assets. . .   (332.3)   (297.8)   (283.2)      -       -       - 
  Amortization of prior service cost.      8.5       7.9       5.9    (2.1)      -       - 
  Amortization of transition amount .     (5.3)     (5.3)     (5.0)      -       -       - 
  Recognized net actuarial loss 
    (gain). . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2.9       2.9       9.7    (5.3)   (8.8)   (4.4) 
  Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      5.8        .5       2.8       -       -       - 
                                       --------  --------  --------  ------  ------  ------ 
 
  Net periodic benefit (income) 
    cost. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  (4.1)  $  27.5   $  60.1   $48.6   $46.8   $55.6 
                                       ========  ========  ========  ======  ======  ====== 
 
 
 
     Assumed health care cost trend rates affect the amounts reported for 
postretirement health care  benefit plans.  A one-percentage-point change in 
assumed health care trend rates would have the following effects: 
 
 
 
                                                      One-Percentage-Point 
                                                      -------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                 Increase  Decrease 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                          
 
 
Effect on total of service and interest cost components  $4.4   $3.7 
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation              51.9   45.2 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Defined Contribution Retirement Plans 
 
     The Corporation's contributions to the defined contribution retirement 
plans are based on the age and compensation of covered employees.  The 
Corporation's contributions, all of which were charged to expense, were $23.8 
million, $14.8 million and $8.5 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
 
Investment Plans 
 
     Voluntary contribution investment plans are provided to substantially all 
North American employees.  Under the plans, the Corporation matches a portion 
of employee contributions.  Costs charged to expense under the plans were 
$26.1 million, $24.9 million and $24.1 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, 
respectively. 
 
 
 



 
 
NOTE 5.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
     There are no adjustments required to be made to Income Before 
Extraordinary Gains and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change for purposes of 
computing basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS"). 
 
     A reconciliation of the average number of common shares outstanding used 
in the basic and diluted EPS computations is as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                 Average Common Shares 
                                                                      Outstanding 
                                                                   ------------------ 
(Millions)                                                        1998     1997    1996 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                         
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  550.3  555.9  564.0 
  Dilutive effect of stock options                                   2.3    3.1    2.9 
  Dilutive effect of shares issued for participation share awards     .5     .3     .2 
                                                                   -----  -----  ----- 
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  553.1  559.3  567.1 
                                                                   =====  =====  ===== 
 
 
 
     Options outstanding during the year ended December 31, 1998 to purchase 
9.1 million shares of common stock at a weighted average price of $52.74 were 
not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the exercise prices of 
the options were greater than the average market price of the common shares. 
The options, which expire in 2004, 2007 and 2008, were still outstanding at 
December 31, 1998.  There were no securities outstanding at December 31, 1997 
and 1996 which were excluded from the diluted EPS computations.  The number of 
common shares outstanding as of December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 was 538.3 
million, 556.3 million and 563.4 million, respectively. 
 



 
 
NOTE 6.   DEBT 
 
 
     The major issues of long-term debt outstanding were: 
 
 
                                                                              December 31 
                                                                              ----------- 
(Millions of dollars)                                                        1998      1997 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                                
Kimberly-Clark Corporation: 
  Commercial paper to be refinanced                                        $      -  $  200.0 
  6 1/4% Debentures due 2018                                                  297.6         - 
  6 3/8% Debentures due 2028                                                  198.2         - 
  7 7/8% Debentures due 2023                                                  199.7     199.7 
  8 5/8% Notes due 2001                                                       199.8     199.8 
  9% Notes due 2000                                                            99.9      99.9 
  6 7/8% Debentures due 2014                                                   99.7      99.7 
  5% Notes maturing to 2002                                                    36.0      45.0 
  9 1/2% Sinking Fund Debentures due 2018                                         -      50.0 
  6.2% to 7.55% Industrial Development Revenue Bonds maturing to 2023          79.7      79.7 
  Other                                                                         3.7        .2 
                                                                           --------  -------- 
                                                                            1,214.3     974.0 
Subsidiaries: 
  7% Debentures due 2023                                                      194.0     193.8 
  11.1% Bonds due 2000                                                         99.6      99.4 
  8.3% to 11% Debentures maturing to 2022                                     163.8     156.0 
  Industrial Development Revenue Bonds at variable rates (average rate 
    for December 1998 - 4%) due 2015, 2018, 2023 and 2024                     286.6     286.6 
  5 3/4% to 6 3/8% Industrial Development Revenue Bonds maturing 
    to 2007                                                                    22.9      28.3 
  Bank loans and other financings in various currencies at fixed rates 
    (weighted-average rate at December 31, 1998 - 10.7%) maturing to 2008      97.9     112.9 
  Bank loans and other financings in various currencies at variable rates 
    (weighted-average rate at December 31, 1998 - 8%) maturing to 2015. .      45.6      54.4 
                                                                           --------  -------- 
                                                                            2,124.7   1,905.4 
 
Less current portion                                                           56.5     101.5 
                                                                           --------  -------- 
 
  Total                                                                    $2,068.2  $1,803.9 
                                                                           ========  ======== 
 
 
 
     At December 31, 1997, $200 million of short-term commercial paper was 
classified as long-term debt.  On January 9, 1998, the Corporation issued $200 
million principal amount of 6 3/8% Debentures due January 1, 2028. 
 
     Fair value of long-term debt was $2,256.6 million and $1,972.4 million at 
December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.  Scheduled maturities of long-term 
debt are $281.8 million in 2000, $232.0 million in 2001, $19.8 million in 2002 
and $7.1 million in 2003. 
 
     At December 31, 1998, the Corporation had $1.0 billion of revolving 
credit facilities with a group of  banks.  These facilities, which were unused 
at December 31, 1998, permit borrowing at competitive interest rates and are 
available for general corporate purposes, including backup for commercial 
paper borrowings.  The Corporation pays commitment fees on the unused portion 
but may cancel the facilities without penalty at any time prior to their 
expiration.  Of these facilities, approximately $600 million expires in 
November 1999 and approximately $400 million expires in November 2003. 
 



 
 
 
     Debt payable within one year: 
 
 
                                     December 31 
                                     ----------- 
(Millions of dollars)               1998     1997 
- --------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                      
Commercial paper                   $418.0  $392.6 
Current portion of long-term debt    56.5   101.5 
Other short-term debt               160.9   169.0 
                                   ------  ------ 
 
  Total                            $635.4  $663.1 
                                   ======  ====== 
 
 
 
     At December 31, 1998 and 1997, the weighted-average interest rate for 
commercial paper was 5.3 percent and 5.9 percent, respectively. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
NOTE 7.   RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
     As a multinational enterprise, the Corporation is exposed to changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.  The 
Corporation employs a variety of practices to manage these market risks, 
including its operating and financing activities and, where deemed 
appropriate, the use of derivative financial instruments.  The Corporation 
uses derivative financial instruments only for risk management purposes and 
does not use them for speculation or for trading.  All derivative instruments 
are either exchange traded or are entered into with major financial 
institutions for the purpose of reducing the Corporation's credit risk and the 
risk of nonperformance by third parties. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk Management 
 
     Foreign currency risk is managed by the use of foreign currency forward, 
swap and option contracts. The use of these contracts allows the Corporation 
to manage its transactional exposure to exchange rate fluctuations because the 
gains or losses incurred on the derivative instruments will offset in whole, 
or in part, losses or gains on the underlying foreign currency exposure.  The 
Corporation's most significant foreign currency risk relates to the Mexican 
peso. There have been no significant changes in how foreign currency 
transactional exposures were managed during 1998, and management does not 
foresee or expect any significant changes in such exposures or in the 
strategies it employs to manage them in the near future. 
 
     Foreign currency losses included in consolidated net income were $32.8 
million, $10.2 million and $2.9 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
Included in foreign currency losses were the Corporation's share of foreign 
currency gains and losses at the Corporation's Mexican affiliate, 
Kimberly-Clark de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. ("KCM"), attributable to changes in 
the value of the Mexican peso. The Corporation's share of the peso currency 
effects was a charge equal to $.02 per share in 1998 and insignificant in 
1997 and 1996. 
 
     Prior to 1997, Mexico's economy was deemed to be non-hyperinflationary, 
and because KCM had financed a portion of its operations with U.S. dollar 
obligations, KCM experienced foreign currency losses on these obligations as 
the value of the peso declined.  Beginning in 1997, the Mexican economy was 
determined to be hyperinflationary.  For accounting purposes, the functional 
currency of KCM became the U.S. dollar rather than the Mexican peso. 
Accordingly, changes in the value of the peso in 1998 and 1997 did not result 
in foreign currency gains or losses attributable to the U.S. dollar 
obligations.  However, changes in the value of the peso have resulted in gains 
or losses attributable to peso-denominated monetary assets held by KCM. 
 
     Gains and losses on instruments that hedge firm commitments are deferred 
and included in the basis of the underlying hedged items.  Premiums paid for 
options are amortized ratably over the life of the option.  Contracts used to 
hedge recorded foreign currency transactions generally mature within 
one year and are marked-to-market with the resulting gains or losses included 
in current income.  These gains and losses offset foreign exchange gains and 
losses on the underlying transactions.  Notwithstanding the sizable notional 
principal amounts involved, the Corporation's credit exposure under these 
arrangements is limited to the fair value of the agreements with a positive 
fair value at the reporting date.  Additionally, credit risk with respect to 
the counterparties is considered minimal in view of the financial strength of 
the counterparties. 
 



 
 
 
     The following table presents the aggregate notional principal amounts, 
carrying values and fair values of the Corporation's foreign currency forward 
contracts outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1997: 
 
 
 
 
                             DECEMBER 31, 1998              December 31, 1997 
                       ---------------------------     --------------------------- 
                        NOTIONAL                        Notional 
                       PRINCIPAL  CARRYING    FAIR      Principal  Carrying   Fair 
(Millions of dollars)   AMOUNTS    VALUES    VALUES      Amounts    Values   Values 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                            
Forward contracts 
  Assets. . . . .      $848.0     $  4.1     $(3.0)    $1,094.1     $38.9    $47.3 
  Liabilities . .       964.0      (12.1)     (4.4)       350.0      (6.4)    (6.4) 
 
 
 
Translation Risk 
 
     The income statements of foreign operations, other than those in 
hyperinflationary economies, are translated into U.S. dollars at rates of 
exchange in effect each month.  The balance sheets of these operations are 
translated at period-end exchange rates, and the differences from historical 
exchange rates are reflected in stockholders' equity as unrealized translation 
adjustments. 
 
     The income statements and balance sheets of operations in 
hyperinflationary economies are translated into U.S. dollars using both 
current and historical rates of exchange.  For balance sheet accounts 
translated at current exchange rates, such as cash and accounts receivable, 
the differences from historical exchange rates are reflected in income. 
Operations that are deemed to be hyperinflationary are as follows:  Brazil 
(prior to January 1, 1998), Ecuador, Mexico (effective 
January 1, 1997 through December 31, 1998) and Venezuela. 
 
     Translation exposure is not hedged.  The risk to any particular entity's 
net assets is minimized to the extent that the entity is financed with local 
currency borrowing.  In addition, many of the Corporation's non-U.S. 
operations buy the majority of their inputs and sell the majority of their 
outputs in their local currency, thereby minimizing the effect of currency 
rate changes on their local operating profit margins. 
 
Interest Rate Risk Management 
 
     Interest rate risk is managed through the maintenance of a portfolio of 
variable- and fixed-rate debt composed of short- and long-term instruments. 
The objective is to maintain a cost-effective mix that management deems 
appropriate.   The strategy employed by the Corporation to manage its exposure 
to interest rate fluctuations did not change significantly during 1998. 
Management does not foresee or expect any significant changes in its exposure 
to interest rate fluctuations or in how such exposure is managed in the near 
future. 
 
Commodity Price Risk Management 
 
     The Corporation is subject to commodity price risk arising from price 
movement for purchased pulp, the market price of which is determined by 
industry supply and demand. Selling prices of the Corporation's tissue 
products are influenced by the market price for pulp.  On a worldwide basis, 
the Corporation has reduced its internal pulp supply to approximately 75 
percent of its virgin fiber needs.  Closure of the Mobile pulp mill in 
September 1999, as discussed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, will reduce the percentage of integration of the Corporation's 
pulp requirements to approximately 45 percent.  The Corporation has announced 
its intention to further reduce its level of pulp integration to approximately 
20 percent.  However, such a reduction in pulp integration could increase the 
 



 
 
 
Corporation's commodity price risk.  Specifically, increases in pulp prices 
could adversely affect the Corporation's earnings if selling prices are not 
adjusted or if such adjustments significantly trail the increases in pulp 
prices. Conversely, if the Corporation does not lower its level of pulp 
integration and the market price for pulp declines, thereby possibly causing 
selling prices for tissue products to fall, the Corporation's profit margin 
could suffer, and if the price of pulp increases, thereby possibly causing the 
selling prices of tissue products to rise, the Corporation's profits could 
improve.  The Corporation has not used derivative instruments in the 
management of these risks. 
 
 
NOTE 8.   STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
     Kimberly-Clark Equity Participation Plans provide for awards of 
participation shares and stock options to key employees of the Corporation and 
its subsidiaries.  Upon maturity, participation share awards are paid in cash 
or cash and shares of the Corporation's stock based on the increase in the 
book value of the Corporation's common stock during the award period. 
Participants do not receive dividends on the participation shares, but their 
accounts are credited with dividend shares payable in cash or cash and shares 
of the Corporation's stock at the maturity of the award.  Neither 
participation nor dividend shares are shares of common stock. 
 
 
     Data concerning participation and dividend shares follow: 
 
 
 
(Thousands of shares)              1998    1997     1996 
- ---------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                          
Outstanding - Beginning of year   9,381   7,173    5,994 
 
Awarded                           2,145   1,994    1,954 
 
Dividend shares credited - net      883     795      682 
 
Matured                          (1,925)   (500)  (1,312) 
 
Forfeited                          (435)    (81)    (145) 
                                 -------  ------  ------- 
 
Outstanding - End of year        10,049   9,381    7,173 
                                 =======  ======  ======= 
 
 
 
     Amounts expensed related to participation shares were $23.1 million, 
$26.8 million and $17.9 million  in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
     The Corporation also has stock option plans under which executives and 
key employees may be granted awards.  Under these plans, all stock options are 
granted at not less than market value, expire 10 years after the date of grant 
and become exercisable over three years. 
 
     In October 1997, approximately 57,000 employees worldwide were granted 
approximately 3.2 million stock options and .2 million stock appreciation 
rights under the Corporation's Global Stock Option Plan.  Employees were 
granted options to purchase a fixed number of shares, ranging from 25 to 125 
shares per employee, of common stock at a price equal to the fair market value 
of the Corporation's stock at the date of grant.  The grants generally become 
exercisable after the third anniversary of the grant date and have a term of 
seven years. 
 
 
     Data concerning stock option activity follows: 
 
 
 
                                1998              1997                1996 
                           --------------------- --------------- ------------------ 
                                       WEIGHTED-       Weighted-          Weighted- 
                                       AVERAGE          Average           Average 
                                       EXERCISE         Exercise          Exercise 
(Options in thousands)     OPTIONS       PRICE  Options   Price  Options    Price 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
                                                          
Outstanding - Beginning of 
  year. . . . . . . . . . .    16,195   $36.73  12,609   $26.61   20,688   $20.57 
Granted                         3,076    55.94   6,111    51.12    2,876    39.94 
Exercised                      (1,608)   22.91  (2,401)   20.15  (10,694)   18.49 
Canceled or expired              (531)   50.86    (124)   38.61     (261)   27.63 
                             ---------          -------          -------- 
 
Outstanding - End of year    17,132(a)   41.04  16,195    36.73   12,609    26.61 
                             =========          =======          ======== 
 
Exercisable - End of year       8,429    30.10   7,016    25.57    7,522    22.24 
                             =========          =======          ======== 



 
 
 
(a)     Data concerning stock options at December 31, 1998 follows (options in 
        thousands): 
 
 
 
 
 
                          Options Outstanding 
                     ---------------------------        Options Exercisable 
                               Weighted-               -------------------- 
                                Average    Remaining              Weighted- 
                                Exercise  Contractual              Average 
Exercise Price Range  Options    Price    Life (Years)    Options   Price 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                     
12.36 -  $14.73         291     $13.70       2.5           291     $13.70 
18.16 -   24.66       3,841      23.12       4.9         3,841      23.12 
27.11 -   28.34       1,755      28.33       3.7         1,755      28.33 
39.94 -   55.94      11,245      49.85       7.2         2,542      43.74 
                     ------                              ----- 
                     17,132                              8,429 
                     ======                              ===== 
 
 
 
     At December 31, 1998, the number of additional shares of common stock of 
the Corporation available for awards under the 1992 Plan was 17.7 million 
shares. 
 
     Effective January 1, 1999, the Corporation adopted a restricted stock 
plan under which key employees may be granted shares of restricted stock (or 
awards of restricted stock units).  These restricted stock awards will vest 
and become unrestricted shares in three to ten years from the date of grant. 
No grants have been made and 2.5 million shares of the Corporation's common 
stock have been reserved for such grants. 
 
     The Corporation has elected to follow APB 25 and related interpretations 
in accounting for its stock options.  Under APB 25, because the exercise price 
of the Corporation's employee stock options equals the market price of the 
underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. 
However, SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, requires 
presentation of pro forma net income and earnings per share as if the 
Corporation had accounted for its employee stock options granted subsequent to 
December 31, 1994, under the fair value method of that statement.  For 
purposes of pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value of the options is 
amortized to expense over the vesting period.  Under the fair value method, 
the Corporation's net income and net income per share would have been reduced 
as follows: 
 
(Millions of dollars, except per share amounts)          1998     1997      1996 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Net income                                             $31.0     $22.4     $16.1 
Basic and diluted net income per share                   .06       .04       .03 
 
     The weighted-average fair value of the individual options granted during 
1998, 1997 and 1996 is estimated as $13.36, $12.22 and $8.66, respectively, on 
the date of grant.  The fair values were determined using a Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
 
 
 
                            1998         1997         1996 
                          -------      -------      ------- 
 
 
                                            
Dividend yield                 1.79%        1.88%        2.30% 
Volatility                    17.60%       18.30%       18.30% 
Risk-free interest rate        5.59%        5.98%        5.31% 
Expected life             5.8 YEARS    5.4 years    5.8 years 
 
 
 
 



 
- ------ 
NOTE 9.  COMMITMENTS 
 
Leases 
 
     The future minimum obligations under leases having a noncancelable term 
in excess of one year as of December 31, 1998, are as follows: 
 
 
 
                            Operating 
(Millions of dollars)         Leases 
- ---------------------        -------- 
 
 
                          
Year Ending December 31: 
1999 . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 57.1 
2000 . . . . . . . . . . .    43.2 
2001 . . . . . . . . . . .    36.6 
2002 . . . . . . . . . . .    21.6 
2003 . . . . . . . . . . .    15.8 
  Thereafter . . . . . . .    71.6 
                            ------ 
 
Future minimum obligations  $245.9 
                            ====== 
 
 
 
     Operating lease obligations have been reduced by approximately $15.0 
million for rental income from noncancelable sublease agreements. 
 
     Consolidated rental expense under operating leases was $156.9 million, 
$150.8 million and $147.9 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
 
Raw Materials 
 
     The Corporation has entered into long-term contracts for the purchase of 
raw materials, primarily pulp.  The minimum purchase commitments extend to 
2006.  At current prices, the commitments are approximately $282 million, $251 
million and $234 million in 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively.  The commitment 
beyond the year 2001 is approximately $278 million in total. 
 
 
     Although the Corporation is primarily liable for rental payments on the 
above-mentioned leases and, considering the purchase commitments for raw 
materials described above, management believes the Corporation's exposure to 
losses, if any, under these arrangements is not material. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
NOTE 10.  STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
Stockholders' Equity 
 
     The Corporation has 20 million shares of authorized preferred stock with 
no par value, none of which has been issued. 
 
     At December 31, 1998, unremitted net income of equity companies included 
in consolidated retained earnings was $797.8 million. 
 
     On June 21, 1988, the board of directors of the Corporation declared a 
distribution of one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share 
of the Corporation's common stock.  On June 8, 1995, the board amended the 
plan governing such rights.  The rights are intended to protect the 
stockholders against abusive takeover tactics. 
 
     A right will entitle its holder to purchase one two-hundredth of a share 
of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $225, 
but will not become exercisable until 10 days after a person or group acquires 
or announces a tender offer that would result in the ownership of 20 percent 
or more of the Corporation's outstanding common shares. 
 
     Under certain circumstances, a right will entitle its holder to acquire 
either shares of the Corporation's stock or shares of an acquiring company's 
common stock, in either event having a market value of twice the exercise 
price of the right.  At any time after the acquisition by a person or group of 
20 percent or more, but fewer than 50 percent, of the Corporation's common 
shares, the Corporation may exchange the rights, except for rights held by the 
acquiring person or group, in whole or in part, at a rate of one right for one 
share of the Corporation's common stock or for one two-hundredth of a share of 
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. 
 
     The rights may be redeemed at $.005 per right prior to the acquisition by 
a person or group of 20 percent or more of the common stock.  Unless redeemed 
earlier, the rights expire on June 8, 2005. 
 



 
 
 
Other Comprehensive Income 
 
     During 1998, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 130, Reporting 
Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for reporting and displaying 
comprehensive income and its components in a financial statement that is 
displayed with the same prominence as other financial statements.  The changes 
in the components of other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
                                                             Year Ended December 31 
                           ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
                                      1998                          1997                   1996 
                            ------------------------  -----------------------  ------------------------- 
                            PRE-TAX   TAX EXP.  NET   Pre-tax Tax Exp.  Net    Pre-tax   Tax Exp.   Net 
(Millions of dollars)       AMOUNT    (CREDIT) AMOUNT  Amount (Credit) Amount   Amount   (Credit)  Amount 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                      
Unrealized translation 
  adjustments                $ 3.1   $  -   $ 3.1   $(296.4)  $   -   $(296.4)  $(16.3)  $   -  $(16.3) 
Minimum pension liability 
  adjustment                  (1.4)   (.6)    (.8)     (4.5)   (1.7)     (2.8)    28.1    10.6    17.5 
                             ------  -----  ------  --------  ------  --------  -------  -----  ------- 
 
Other comprehensive income 
  (loss). . . . . . . . . .  $ 1.7   $(.6)  $ 2.3   $(300.9)  $(1.7)  $(299.2)  $ 11.8   $10.6  $  1.2 
                             ======  =====  ======  ========  ======  ========  =======  =====  ======= 
 
 
 
 
 
     Accumulated balances of other comprehensive income (loss), net of 
applicable income taxes: 
 
 
                                                   December 31 
                                                ---------------- 
(Millions of dollars)                            1998      1997 
- ---------------------                         ---------  -------- 
 
 
                                                    
Unrealized translation adjustments             $(950.1)  $(953.2) 
Minimum pension liability adjustment             (14.2)    (13.4) 
                                               --------  -------- 
 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  $(964.3)  $(966.6) 
                                               ========  ======== 
 
 
 



 
NOTE 11.  EXTRAORDINARY GAINS 
 
     In March 1997, the Corporation sold Coosa for approximately $600 million 
in cash.  Also, in the first quarter of 1997, the Corporation recorded 
impairment losses on the planned disposal of a pulp manufacturing mill in 
Miranda, Spain; a recycled fiber facility in Oconto Falls, Wisconsin; and a 
tissue converting facility in Yucca, Arizona; and on an integrated pulp making 
facility in Everett, Washington.  These impairment losses totaled $111.5 
million before income tax benefits.  In June 1997, the Corporation completed 
the sale of its interest in Scott Paper Limited ("SPL") for approximately 
$127 million.  Accounting regulations require that certain transactions 
following a business combination that was accounted for as a pooling of 
interests be reported as extraordinary items.  Accordingly, the above 
described transactions have been aggregated and reported as extraordinary 
gains totaling $17.5 million, net of applicable income taxes of $38.4 million. 
The high effective income tax rate on the extraordinary gains is due to income 
tax loss carryforwards in Spain that precluded the current recognition of the 
income tax benefit on the Miranda impairment loss and the tax basis in SPL 
being substantially lower than the carrying amount of the investment in the 
financial statements.  The extraordinary gains were equal to $.03 per share 
for both basic and diluted EPS. 
 
     In accordance with SFAS 121, depreciation was suspended on facilities 
that were sold in 1997.  The suspension of depreciation during the period that 
these facilities were held for disposal and producing product is discussed in 
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 



 
NOTE 12.   ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS OF BUSINESSES 
 
Acquisitions 
 
     In May 1998, the Corporation acquired a 50 percent equity interest in 
Klabin Tissue, S.A., the leading tissue manufacturer in Brazil. 
 
     In July 1998, the Corporation purchased a 51 percent ownership interest 
in Kimberly Bolivia, S.A., a new joint venture company in Bolivia. 
 
     In July 1998, the Corporation purchased an additional 10 percent 
ownership interest in its Korean affiliate, YuHan-Kimberly, Limited, 
increasing its ownership interest to 70 percent. 
 
     In December 1997, the Corporation acquired Tecnol in a purchase 
transaction through the exchange of approximately 8.7 million shares of the 
Corporation's common stock for all the outstanding shares of Tecnol common 
stock.  The value of the exchange of stock plus related acquisition costs was 
approximately $428 million.  In 1997, the Corporation disclosed that the 
allocation of the purchase price would result in assigning values to goodwill 
and other intangible assets in a range of $320 million to 
$340 million.  The actual value assigned in 1998 was $336 million. 
 
     On December 23, 1998, the Corporation announced that it had signed a 
definitive agreement to acquire Ballard Medical Products ("Ballard"), a 
leading maker of disposable medical devices for respiratory care, 
gastroenterology and cardiology.  Under the agreement, Ballard shareholders 
will receive $25 for each share of Ballard common stock, payable in shares of 
the Corporation's common stock.  The transaction, which is valued at 
approximately $764 million, remains subject to regulatory clearances and 
approval by the Ballard shareholders.  The transaction is expected to be 
completed in April 1999 and will be accounted for as a purchase. 
 
Dispositions 
 
     In August 1998, the Corporation completed the sale of its subsidiary, K-C 
Aviation Inc. ("KCA"), for $250 million in cash.  The sale resulted in a 
pretax gain of $140.0 million, which is included in other income (expense), 
net.  The transaction resulted in an after-tax gain of $78.3 million, or $.14 
per share. 
 
     In December 1997, the Corporation sold its 17 percent interest in 
Ssangyong Paper Co., Ltd. ("Ssangyong") of Korea.  The sale resulted in a gain 
of $.03 per share. 
 
     In 1996, to meet regulatory requirements associated with the merger with 
Scott, the Corporation sold the former Scott baby wipes business and certain 
tissue businesses in the U.S. and the U.K.  The regulatory disposals resulted 
in a net gain of $.09 per share. 
 
     In 1996, the Corporation sold its remaining 20 percent interest in 
Midwest Express Airlines, Inc. and recognized a gain of $.04 per share. 
 
 



 
 
 
     Assets classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 
December 31, 1998 and 1997 consist of the following facilities: 
 
 
 
 
                                          1998       1997 
                                         CARRYING  Carrying 
(Millions of dollars)                     AMOUNT    Amount    Comment 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                     
Southeast Timberlands - 
  See Note 13 . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $109.5    $    -     Disposal - expected to close in the first 
                                                              half of 1999. 
 
Terrace Bay, Ontario. . . . . . . . . .       -     169.4     Sale is unlikely to occur within one year. 
                                                              Reclassified to property, plant and 
                                                              equipment - Third quarter 1998. 
 
New Glasgow, Nova Scotia. . . . . . . .       -     105.6     Disposal canceled - Second quarter 1998. 
 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       -       5.0     Disposal canceled - Second quarter 1998. 
                                         ------    ------ 
 
                                         $109.5    $280.0 
                                         ======    ====== 
 
 
 
     Determination of individual results of operations of the above facilities 
during the depreciation suspension period is not meaningful because of the 
integration of the operations of these facilities into the overall 
consolidated operating results.  The effect of suspending depreciation while 
these facilities were held for disposal is discussed in Note 2 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 



 
NOTE 13.  CONTINGENCIES AND LEGAL MATTERS 
 
Southeast Timberlands Transaction 
 
     In 1997, the U.S. Government enacted new environmental air and water 
emission rules that required reduced emission levels of certain chemical 
compounds from the Corporation's pulp production facilities.  These rules 
would have required the Corporation to spend more than $250 million to achieve 
the new emission levels at its Mobile, Alabama pulp mill. S.D. Warren Company, 
a producer of printing and publishing papers, currently purchases 
approximately one-third of the pulp mill's output.  On May 4, 1998, S.D. 
Warren and the Corporation announced an agreement to terminate their pulp 
supply contract in September 1999.  As a result of the cancellation of the 
pulp supply contract and the cost of implementing the new emission rules, on 
May 5, 1998, the Corporation announced it would shut down its Mobile pulp mill 
on September 1, 1999, sell the Southeast Timberlands and retain its pulp 
facility in New Glasgow, Nova Scotia.  The effect on consolidated operating 
profit from suspending depreciation during the holding period in accordance 
with SFAS 121 is disclosed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
The Corporation will continue to operate its Mobile tissue mill and has plans 
to invest approximately $100 million in the facility over the next several 
years to install systems that process recycled fiber and that allow the use 
of purchased pulp.  These actions are expected to improve the long-term 
competitiveness of the Mobile tissue operations by reducing fiber costs and 
improving the quality of the products made there.  The pulp facility, which 
has a book value of approximately $150 million, produces pulp from the 
Southeast Timberlands for use in the tissue mill.  Closure of the pulp mill 
will result in the elimination of approximately 450 jobs. 
 
     On January 5, 1999, the Corporation announced that it had agreed to sell 
the Southeast Timberlands, which include approximately 529,000 acres of 
woodlands in Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessee, to an affiliate of Southstar 
Timber Resources, LLC ("Southstar"), a company organized by ACI Capital Co., 
Inc., a New York-based investment firm. 
 
     The sale, which is subject to regulatory clearances and completion of 
financing by Southstar, is expected to close in the first half of 1999. 
Because the sale of the Southeast Timberlands is associated with the planned 
closure of the Mobile pulp mill in September 1999, the net effect of the 
transaction and severance payments to affected employees, which is expected to 
be a net gain, will be recorded at the time of the closing of the sale of the 
Southeast Timberlands. 
 
     In connection with the pulp mill closure, and as permitted by the terms 
of the governing contract, on May 5, 1998, the Corporation gave notice to 
Mobile Energy Services Company, L.L.C. ("MESC") of the Corporation's intent to 
terminate MESC's long-term contract for power, steam and liquor processing 
services with respect to the Mobile pulp mill.  The resulting termination 
penalty which is specified in the contract will be included in the calculation 
of the net gain referred to above.  On January 14, 1999, MESC and Mobile 
Energy Services Holdings, Inc. filed an action against the Corporation 
claiming unspecified damages in connection with the cancellation of the 
contract.  This action is not expected to have a material adverse effect on 
the Corporation's business or results of operations. 
 
Litigation 
 
     On May 13, 1997, the State of Florida, acting through its attorney 
general, filed a complaint in the Gainesville Division of the United States 
District Court for the Northern District of Florida (the "Florida District 
Court"), alleging that manufacturers of tissue products for away-from-home 
use, including the Corporation and Scott, agreed to fix prices by coordinating 
price increases for such products.  Following Florida's complaint, an action 
by the states of Maryland, New York and West Virginia, as well as 
approximately 45 class action complaints, have been filed in various federal 
and state courts around the United States.  These actions contain allegations 
similar to those made by the State of Florida in its complaint.  The actions 
in federal courts have been consolidated for pretrial proceedings in the 
Florida District Court.  Class certification was granted in the federal 
proceedings in July 1998 and will be contested in the state cases.  The 
foregoing actions seek an unspecified amount of actual and treble damages. 
The Corporation has answered the complaints in these actions and has denied 
the allegations contained therein as well as any liability.  Discovery is 
proceeding. 
 
     The Corporation intends to contest these claims vigorously.  Management 
does not expect these actions to have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation's business or results of operations. 
 
     The Corporation also is subject to routine litigation from time to time, 
which, individually or in the aggregate, is not expected to have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation's business or results of operations. 
 
Environmental Matters 
 
     The Corporation has been named a potentially responsible party under the 
provisions of the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 
and Liability Act, or analogous state statute, at a number of waste disposal 
sites, none of which, individually, or in the aggregate, in management's 
opinion, is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's 
business or results of operations. 
 
 
 



 
 NOTE 14.   UNAUDITED QUARTERLY DATA 
 
 
 
 
(Millions of dollars,                  1998                                              1997 
except per share         ------------------------------------------  --------------------------------------------- 
amounts)                   FOURTH(A)  THIRD(B)   SECOND(C) FIRST(D)   Fourth(f)   Third    Second(g)    First(h) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                                 
Net sales                $ 3,108.2     $3,099.7  $3,041.3  $3,048.6    $  3,089.4   $3,095.3  $3,124.3     $3,237.6 
Gross profit               1,137.9      1,203.8   1,193.8   1,164.5         982.5    1,158.3   1,192.2      1,241.0 
Operating profit 
 (loss)                     379.8        416.6     435.4     444.3        (202.0)     466.5     494.4         544.3 
Income (Loss) before 
  extraordinary gains 
  and cumulative 
  effect of accounting 
  change                     239.3        340.0     300.1     297.6        (147.0)    316.0      350.8       364.2 
  Per share basis: 
    Basic                      .44          .62       .54       .53         (.26)       .57       .63          .65 
    Diluted                    .44          .62       .54       .53         (.26)       .57       .63          .64 
Net income (loss)            239.3        340.0     300.1     286.4(E)    (147.0)     316.0     363.5        369.0 
  Per share basis: 
    Basic                      .44          .62       .54       .51(E)      (.26)       .57       .65          .66 
      Diluted . . . . .        .44          .62       .54       .51(E)      (.26)       .57       .65          .65 
  Cash dividends 
  declared per 
  share                        .25          .25       .25       .25          .24        .24       .24          .24 
  Market price: 
  High                    54-15/16      49-7/16   52-7/16   59-7/16     53-15/16     55        56-7/8     55-3/8 
  Low                      39-7/16      35-7/8    44-7/16   46-3/4      47-5/16      43-1/4    46-1/8     46-11/16 
  Close                     54-1/2      40-1/2    45-7/8    50-1/8      49-5/16      48-15/16  49-3/4     49-3/4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(a)     Included in the fourth quarter 1998 are the following items: 
 
 
                                                                    Basic and 
                                                                     Diluted 
                                      Gross    Operating    Net     Net Income 
(Millions, except per share amounts) Profit      Profit    Income   per Share 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                          
1998 Charge                         $  1.0     $ 50.6     $ 48.1      $.09 
Charge for facility consolidations   123.2      123.2       86.1       .16 
                                    ------     ------     ------      ---- 
 
    Total. . . . . . . . . . . . .  $124.2     $173.8     $134.2      $.25 
                                    ======     ======     ======      ==== 
 
 
 
 
 
(b)     Included in the third quarter 1998 are the following items: 
 
                                                                               Basic and 
                                                                                Diluted 
                                                  Gross  Operating     Net     Net Income 
(Millions, except per share amounts)              Profit   Profit     Income    per Share 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                    
1998 Charge                                        $   -  $  4.4      $ 3.3     $.01 
Write-down of certain intangible and other assets   11.3    95.6       73.6      .13 
                                                   -----  ------      -----     ---- 
 
    Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $11.3  $100.0      $76.9     $.14 
                                                   =====  ======      =====     ==== 
 
 
 



 
 
 
     Net income and basic and diluted net income per share includes a gain of 
$78.3 million and $.14, respectively, related to the sale of KCA.  Basic and 
diluted net income per share also include a loss of $.01 per share related to 
the change in the value of the Mexican peso. 
 
(c)     Gross profit, operating profit, net income and basic and diluted net 
income per share includes $6.3 million, $39.6 million, $26.1 million and $.05, 
respectively, related to the 1998 Charge. 
 
(d)     Operating profit, net income and basic and diluted net income per 
share includes $14.2 million, $9.4 million and $.02, respectively, related 
to the 1998 Charge. Basic and diluted net income per share also include a loss 
of $.01 per share related to the change in the value of the Mexican peso. 
 
(e)     In the fourth quarter of 1998, the Corporation changed its method of 
accounting for the costs of start-up activities effective January 1, 1998. 
The first quarter of 1998 has been restated to reflect the cumulative effect 
of this change. 
 
(f)     Gross profit, operating loss, net loss, basic net loss per share and 
diluted net loss per share includes $220.1 million, $701.2 million, $503.1 
million, $.91 and $.90, respectively, related to the 1997 Charge.  Basic and 
diluted net loss per share also include a gain of $.03 per share related to 
the sale of Ssangyong. 
 
(g)     Includes a gain recorded by KCM primarily related to the sale of a 
portion of its tissue business.  The Corporation's share of the after-tax 
effect of this gain was $16.3 million, or $.03 per share.  Also includes an 
extraordinary gain, net of income taxes, of $12.7 million, or $.02 per share, 
resulting from the sale of the Corporation's interest in SPL. 
 
(h)     Includes an extraordinary gain, net of income taxes, of $4.8 million, 
or $.01 per share, resulting from the sale of Coosa, net of impairment losses 
on certain other facilities. 
 



 
NOTE 15.   SUPPLEMENTAL DATA (Millions of dollars) 
 
 
 
 
 
Supplemental Balance Sheet Data 
                                                                                December 31 
                                                                                ----------- 
Summary of Accounts Receivable and Inventories                               1998         1997 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
                                                                                  
Accounts Receivable: 
  From customers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1,396.0   $1,439.7 
  Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     136.5      226.5 
  Less allowance for doubtful accounts and sales discounts . . . . . . . .     (67.3)     (59.9) 
                                                                            ---------  --------- 
 
      Total                                                                 $1,465.2   $1,606.3 
                                                                            =========  ========= 
 
Inventories by Major Class: 
  At the lower of cost on the First-In, First-Out (FIFO) method or market: 
    Raw materials                                                           $  355.4   $  372.4 
    Work in process                                                            164.2      228.5 
    Finished goods                                                             751.3      749.9 
    Supplies and other                                                         195.5      174.5 
                                                                            ---------  --------- 
                                                                             1,466.4    1,525.3 
 
  Excess of FIFO cost over Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) cost                     (182.6)    (205.8) 
                                                                            ---------  --------- 
 
      Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1,283.8   $1,319.5 
                                                                            =========  ========= 
 
 
 
     Total inventories include $490.2 million and $526.6 million of 
inventories valued on the LIFO method at December 31, 1998 and 1997, 
respectively. 
 
 
 
                                               December 31 
                                               ----------- 
Summary of Accrued Expenses                  1998      1997 
- -------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                
Accruals for the 1998 and 1997 Charges. .  $  144.2  $  191.8 
Accrued advertising and promotion expense     272.6     262.8 
Accrued salaries and wages. . . . . . . .     251.7     310.9 
Other accrued expenses. . . . . . . . . .     785.2     680.1 
                                           --------  -------- 
 
      Total accrued expenses. . . . . . .  $1,453.7  $1,445.6 
                                           ========  ======== 
 
 
 



 
 
Supplemental Cash Flow Statement Data 
 
 
 
 
 
Summary of Cash Flow Effects                           Year Ended December 31 
of Decrease (Increase) in                           --------------------------- 
Operating Working Capital(a)                       1998        1997        1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                              
Accounts receivable                               $  87.5   $  13.4   $  34.2 
Inventories                                           (.4)    (43.7)     15.9 
Prepaid expenses                                     14.2     (13.6)     21.6 
Trade accounts payable                              (98.1)    (93.9)    (55.6) 
Other payables                                       37.9      32.8      54.2 
Accrued expenses                                   (116.3)   (294.7)   (352.5) 
Accrued income taxes                                130.8    (151.9)    141.0 
Currency rate changes                                 8.0     (36.8)      (.4) 
                                                  --------  --------  -------- 
 
Decrease (Increase) in operating working capital  $  63.6   $(588.4)  $(141.6) 
                                                  ========  ========  ======== 
 
 
(a)     Excludes the effects of acquisitions, dispositions and the Unusual 
Items discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                            Year Ended December 31 
                                                           ---------------------- 
Other Cash Flow Data                                       1998    1997      1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
                                                                   
Reconciliation of changes in cash and cash equivalents: 
  Balance, January 1                                      $ 90.8  $ 83.2   $ 221.6 
  Increase (Decrease)                                       53.2     7.6    (138.4) 
                                                          ------  -------  -------- 
 
  Balance, December 31                                    $144.0  $ 90.8   $  83.2 
                                                          ======  =======  ======== 
 
Interest paid. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $192.1  $173.6   $ 219.8 
Income taxes paid                                          368.6   557.3     503.0 
Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents due to 
  exchange rate changes                                      2.4   (17.4)        - 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                      Year Ended December 31 
                                                      ---------------------- 
Interest Expense                                      1998      1997    1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                               
Gross interest cost                                  $211.1   $181.8   $200.6 
Capitalized interest on major construction projects   (12.4)   (17.0)   (13.9) 
                                                     -------  -------  ------- 
 
Interest expense                                     $198.7   $164.8   $186.7 
                                                     =======  =======  ======= 
 
 
 
 



 
NOTE 16.   BUSINESS SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC DATA INFORMATION 
 
     In the fourth quarter of 1998, the Corporation adopted SFAS 131.  This 
rule requires companies to report information about their business segments on 
the basis of how they are managed rather than on the basis of the products 
they sell.  Business segments under SFAS 131 are components of an enterprise 
about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate 
resources and assess performance.  The Corporation's operating decision maker 
is its chief executive officer.  The Corporation is organized into three 
global business segments, each of which is headed by a group president who 
reports to the chief executive officer.  Each of these three group presidents 
is responsible for development of global strategies to grow the Corporation's 
worldwide tissue, personal care, and health care and other businesses.  They 
are responsible for developing and managing global plans for branding and 
product positioning, cost reductions, technology and research and development 
programs, and capacity and capital investment.  Each business segment is 
managed separately in view of the substantially different product lines each 
manufactures and markets. 
 
     The Corporation's reportable business segments are Tissue, Personal Care, 
and Health Care and Other.  Significant changes from prior segment reporting 
include the reclassification of wet wipes from Personal Care and premium 
business and correspondence papers and related products from Newsprint, Paper 
and Other to Tissue; and professional health care and nonwoven fabrics from 
Personal Care to Health Care and Other.  Prior year information about the 
Corporation's reportable business segments has been reclassified to the 
current year basis of presentation. 
 
- -     The Tissue segment manufactures and markets facial and bathroom tissue, 
and paper towels and wipers for household and away-from-home use; wet wipes; 
printing, premium business and correspondence papers; and related products. 
 
- -     The Personal Care segment manufactures and markets disposable diapers, 
training and youth pants; feminine and incontinence care products; and related 
products. 
 
- -     The Health Care and Other segment manufactures and markets health care 
products such as surgical packs and gowns, sterilization wraps and disposable 
face masks; specialty and technical papers and related products; and other 
products. 
 



 
 
     Information concerning consolidated operations by business segment and 
geographic area, as well as data for equity companies, is presented in the 
tables below and on the following pages: 
 
 
 
 
Consolidated Operations by Business Segment 
 
                                    Net Sales                     Operating Profit 
                         ---------------------------------   ------------------------------ 
(Millions of dollars)      1998        1997        1996        1998(a)    1997(a)     1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                  
Tissue                   $ 6,706.2   $ 7,182.7   $ 8,183.6   $  968.9   $  637.1   $1,346.5 
Personal Care              4,577.8     4,493.8     4,091.8      620.6      636.6      666.7 
Health Care and Other      1,047.1       908.0       926.7      188.6      136.3      138.0 
                         ----------  ----------  ----------  ---------  ---------  --------- 
Combined                  12,331.1    12,584.5    13,202.1    1,778.1    1,410.0    2,151.2 
Intersegment sales           (33.3)      (37.9)      (53.0)         -          -          - 
Unallocated items - net          -           -           -     (102.0)    (106.8)     (97.5) 
                         ----------  ----------  ----------  ---------  ---------  --------- 
 
Consolidated             $12,297.8   $12,546.6   $13,149.1   $1,676.1   $1,303.2   $2,053.7 
                         ==========  ==========  ==========  =========  =========  ========= 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                          Assets                    Depreciation              Capital Spending 
                    ----------------------------  ------------------------  --------------------- 
(Millions of dollars) 1998     1997       1996     1998     1997    1996    1998    1997    1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                 
Tissue            $ 5,758.9  $ 5,802.2  $ 6,997.1  $301.4  $288.9  $375.6  $345.4  $563.2  $655.2 
Personal Care       3,076.5    3,053.9    3,052.6   174.2   174.9   157.8   290.3   326.4   190.3 
Health Care 
  and Other           966.6    1,023.7      555.4    32.4    25.3    25.0    31.5    45.4    35.3 
                  ---------  ---------  ---------  ------  ------  ------  ------  ------  ------ 
Combined            9,802.0    9,879.8   10,605.1   508.0   489.1   558.4   667.2   935.0   880.8 
Unallocated(b) 
   and 
   intersegment 
  assets            1,708.3    1,386.2    1,240.6     1.2     1.8     2.6     2.3     9.3     2.9 
                  ---------  ---------  ---------  ------  ------  ------  ------  ------  ------ 
 
Consolidated      $11,510.3  $11,266.0  $11,845.7  $509.2  $490.9  $561.0  $669.5  $944.3  $883.7 
                  =========  =========  =========  ======  ======  ======  ======  ======  ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
(a)     Included in Business Segment operating profit are the following unusual items: 
 
                                                             1998 
                                    --------------------------------------------------------- 
                                              Personal  Health Care 
(Millions of dollars)                 Tissue   Care      and Other     Unallocated   Total 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                       
1998 Charge                           $ 82.8  $ 23.9     $1.4             $.7         $108.8 
Charge for facility consolidations      69.9    53.3        -               -          123.2 
Write-down of certain intangible and 
  other assets                          14.5    80.5       .6               -           95.6 
                                      ------  ------     ----             ---         ------ 
  Total                               $167.2  $157.7     $2.0             $.7         $327.6 
                                      ======  ======     ====             ===         ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                             1997 
                                    --------------------------------------------------------- 
                                              Personal  Health Care 
(Millions of dollars)                 Tissue   Care      and Other     Unallocated   Total 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                       
1997 Charge                            $499.4    $169.5     $24.0          $8.3      $701.2 
                                       ======    ======     =====          ====      ====== 
 
 



 
(b)     Assets include investments in equity companies of $813.1 million, 
$567.7 million and $551.1 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Consolidated Operations by Geographic Area 
 
 
                                           Net Sales                      Operating Profit 
                                 ---------------------------------  ------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)               1998        1997       1996        1998(A)    1997(a)     1996 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                          
United States . . . . . . . . .  $ 8,018.2   $ 7,878.7   $ 8,142.5   $1,573.4   $1,206.2   $1,592.3 
Canada. . . . . . . . . . . . .      785.1     1,052.5     1,311.0       96.5      146.4      138.4 
Intergeographic items(b). . . .     (409.1)     (397.3)     (451.7)         -          -          - 
                                 ----------  ----------  ----------  ---------  ---------  --------- 
 
North America . . . . . . . . .    8,394.2     8,533.9     9,001.8    1,669.9    1,352.6    1,730.7 
Europe. . . . . . . . . . . . .    2,471.2     2,548.1     2,881.8      (81.4)     (60.0)     220.4 
Asia, Latin America and Africa.    1,688.4     1,772.2     1,603.5      189.6      117.4      200.1 
                                 ----------  ----------  ----------  ---------  ---------  --------- 
 
Combined. . . . . . . . . . . .   12,553.8    12,854.2    13,487.1    1,778.1    1,410.0    2,151.2 
Intergeographic items . . . . .     (256.0)     (307.6)     (338.0)         -          -          - 
Unallocated items - net . . . .          -           -           -     (102.0)    (106.8)     (97.5) 
                                 ----------  ----------  ----------  ---------  ---------  --------- 
 
Consolidated. . . . . . . . . .  $12,297.8   $12,546.6   $13,149.1   $1,676.1   $1,303.2   $2,053.7 
                                 ==========  ==========  ==========  =========  =========  ========= 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                Assets 
                                  --------------------------------- 
(Millions of dollars)               1998       1997        1996 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                 
United States . . . . . . . . .  $ 5,758.9   $ 5,771.0   $ 5,771.6 
Canada. . . . . . . . . . . . .      451.9       543.6       825.6 
Intergeographic items . . . . .      (52.6)      (65.4)      (50.2) 
                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
North America . . . . . . . . .    6,158.2     6,249.2     6,547.0 
Europe. . . . . . . . . . . . .    2,074.5     2,267.4     2,579.0 
Asia, Latin America and Africa.    1,682.2     1,505.8     1,610.2 
                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
Combined. . . . . . . . . . . .    9,914.9    10,022.4    10,736.2 
Intergeographic items . . . . .     (112.9)     (142.6)     (131.1) 
Unallocated items - net(c). . .    1,708.3     1,386.2     1,240.6 
                                 ----------  ----------  ---------- 
 
Consolidated. . . . . . . . . .  $11,510.3   $11,266.0   $11,845.7 
                                 ==========  ==========  ========== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(a)     Included in geographic operating profit are the following unusual 
items: 
 
                                                  1998 
                     -------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                 Asia, 
                                            Latin America 
(Millions of dollars)   U.S.  Canada  Europe  and Africa  Unallocated  Total 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                      
1998 Charge            $ 25.3  $1.8   $ 78.0    $ 3.0      $.7          $108.8 
Charge for facility 
    consolidations. .    47.0   5.8     64.2      6.2        -           123.2 
Write-down of certain 
    intangible and 
    other assets. . .    27.7    .7     64.7      2.5        -            95.6 
                       ------  ----   ------    -----      ---          ------ 
  Total                $100.0  $8.3   $206.9    $11.7      $.7          $327.6 
                       ======  ====   ======    =====      ===          ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                  1997 
                     -------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                 Asia, 
                                            Latin America 
(Millions of dollars)   U.S.  Canada  Europe  and Africa  Unallocated  Total 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                      



1997 Charge              $403.7 $8.2   $189.8   $91.2       $8.3        $701.2 
                         ====== ====   ======   =====       ====        ====== 
 
 
 
(b)     Net sales include $255.9 million, $246.0 million and $284.8 million by 
operations in Canada to the U.S. in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
(c)     Assets include investments in equity companies of $813.1 million, 
$567.7 million and $551.1 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
 



 
 
 
Equity Companies' Data by Geographic Area 
 
 
 
                                                                              Kimberly- 
                                                                               Clark's 
                                                                                Share 
                                            Net       Gross  Operating   Net   of Net 
(Millions of dollars)                      Sales      Profit   Profit  Income   Income 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                 
For the year ended: 
  December 31, 1998 
    Latin America(a)                     $     1,606.8  $574.4  $388.2  $245.5  $113.5 
    Asia, Australia and Middle East              666.9   236.6    83.3    49.1    23.6 
                                         -------------  ------  ------  ------  ------ 
        Total                            $     2,273.7  $811.0  $471.5  $294.6  $137.1 
                                         =============  ======  ====== =======  ====== 
 
For the year ended: 
  December 31, 1997 
    Latin America(b)                     $     1,464.3  $528.6  $382.5  $283.1  $130.8 
    Asia, Australia and Middle East              698.1   253.6    93.6    55.0    26.5 
                                         -------------  ------  ------  ------  ------ 
        Total . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $     2,162.4  $782.2  $476.1  $338.1  $157.3 
                                         =============  ======  ======  ======  ====== 
 
For the year ended: 
  December 31, 1996 
    Latin America(c)                     $     1,380.5  $512.9  $344.3  $291.5  $133.1 
    North America, Asia, Australia and 
      Middle East(d). . . . . . . . . .          725.7   253.0    83.8    42.8    19.3 
                                         -------------  ------  ------  ------  ------ 
        Total . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $     2,106.2  $765.9  $428.1  $334.3  $152.4 
                                         =============  ======  ======  ======  ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
(a)     Net income and Kimberly-Clark's share of net income include a loss of $19.8 million and $9.2 million, respectively, 
related to the change in the value of the Mexican peso.  In May 1998, the Corporation acquired 50 percent of Klabin Tissue, 
S.A., the leading tissue manufacturer in Brazil. 
 
(b)     Kimberly-Clark's share of net income includes a gain of $16.3 million, primarily related to the sale of a portion of 
the tissue business of KCM.  Additionally, operating profit, net income and Kimberly-Clark's share of net income includes 
$6.7 million, $4.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively, related to the 1997 Charge. 
 
(c)     Kimberly-Clark's share of net income includes a charge of $5.5 million, recorded by KCM for restructuring costs 
related to its merger with Scott's former Mexican affiliate. 
 
(d)     In June 1996, the Corporation acquired 49.9 percent of Hogla, Ltd., and formed a consumer products joint venture in 
Israel. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
                                              Non-                 Non-       Stock- 
                                   Current  Current   Current    Current     holders' 
(Millions of dollars)              Assets   Assets  Liabilities Liabilities   Equity 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                                                
December 31, 1998 
  Latin America                    $  785.5  $1,170.7  $575.0    $154.0       $1,227.2 
  Asia, Australia and Middle East     239.2     359.1   129.5     173.8          295.1 
                                   --------  --------  ------    ------       -------- 
      Total . . . . . . . . . . .  $1,024.7  $1,529.8  $704.5    $327.8       $1,522.3 
                                   ========  ========  ======    ======       ======== 
 
December 31, 1997 
  Latin America                    $  752.8  $  624.6  $336.0    $278.4       $  763.0 
  Asia, Australia and Middle East     226.8     386.9   128.0     185.5          300.2 
                                   --------  --------  ------    ------       -------- 
      Total . . . . . . . . . . .  $  979.6  $1,011.5  $464.0    $463.9       $1,063.2 
                                   ========  ========  ======    ======       ======== 
 
 
December 31, 1996 
  Latin America                    $  661.3  $  606.3  $321.0    $267.5       $  679.2 
  Asia, Australia and Middle East     272.5     463.8   168.9     225.3          342.0 
                                   --------  --------  ------    ------       -------- 
      Total . . . . . . . . . . .  $  933.8  $1,070.1  $489.9    $492.8       $1,021.2 
                                   ========  ========  ======    ======       ======== 
 
 
 
     Equity companies are principally engaged in operations in the Tissue and 
Personal Care businesses. 
 
     KCM is partially owned by the public and its stock is publicly traded in 
Mexico.  At December 31, 1998, the Corporation's investment in this equity 
company was $369.3 million, and the estimated fair value was $1.7 billion 
based on the market price of publicly traded shares. 
 



 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation, Its Directors and Stockholders: 
 
     We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 
Kimberly-Clark Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation's 
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. 
 
     We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 
 
     In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of Kimberly-Clark Corporation 
and Subsidiaries at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 
 
 
 
/s/Deloitte & Touche LLP 
- --------------------------------- 
 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Dallas, Texas 
January 25, 1999 
 
 



 
 
                                                             Exhibit No. (23) 
 
 
                      CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Kimberly-Clark Corporation's 
Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-5299, 33-49050, 33-58402, 
33-64063, 33-64689, 33-64931, 333-02607, 333-06996, 333-17367, 333-38385, 
333-43647 and 333-71661) and on Form S-3 (Nos. 33-52343, 333-45399 and 
333-68903) of our report dated January 25, 1999, appearing in this Current 
Report on Form 8-K of Kimberly-Clark Corporation. 
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
- ------------------------- 
 
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
 
Dallas, Texas 
March 12, 1999 
 
 
 


